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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after
due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-
sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market
in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its
accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (‘Directors” and each a “Director’) of
CircuTech International Holdings Limited (the “Company’) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”). The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are
no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or
this report misleading.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of CircuTech
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
the “Group”), | am pleased to present to the shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders”) the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021.

2021 has been a difficult one for the Group, where the Coronavirus disease
2019 (“COVID-19") has caused drastic disruption to the global supply chain
and manpower resources. Despite these turbulent times, the Group strives
to continuously adapt and transform ourselves into the new norm in business
after COVID-19. It has toughened our people to manage and overcome the
challenges which have brought about a new set of challenges extensively. The
Group is confident that we will be able to weather through this storm with
resilience and determination.

The Group recorded revenue amounted to approximately HK$349.9 million,
representing an approximately 6.2% decrease as compared to that of the
year ended 31 December 2020. The gross profit margin slightly decreased
from 8.3% for the year ended 31 December 2020 to 7.3% for the year ended
31 December 2021, which was mainly due to the weaker demand for smart
devices created by the COVID-19 compared to last year.

Looking forward, the Group expects that the IT distribution business will face
fierce competition. The Group will closely monitor the market condition, and
focus its resources on the development of its repairs and service support
segment, in particular setting up repair centers to provide repair services of
electronic products for renowned IT brands and their service centers. The
Board considers that this will enrich the Group’s business portfolio in a bid to
gain better recurring returns to the Shareholders. The Group is also exploring
suitable opportunities to invest in the “Circular Economy” business segment,
from providing after-sales services of the third-party IT products including
computers, communications and consumer electronics (the “3C Products”)
to recycling of 3C Products to reproduce raw materials. The management
believes that making the relevant strategic investment will enable the Group to
strengthen its development foundation in “Green Technology” and enhance the
Group’s business image.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to our
Shareholders and business partners for their trust and support. | would also like
to salute our managers at all levels and dedicated staff of the Company for their
invaluable contributions and diligent efforts throughout the years.

Mr. Hong Sung-Tai
Chairman
Hong Kong, 21 March 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group operates in two business segments, namely, the sales and
distribution of IT products and the provision of repairs and other service
support of IT products.

Sales and distribution of IT products

The core business segment of the Group is sales and distribution of IT
products. It includes distribution of renowned third-party IT products and video
surveillance systems carrying our own brand name. The third-party IT products
are mainly refurbished and end-of-life units that are distributed through our
well-established wholesale network covering the North America, Asia and
Europe. During the year, the demand for smart devices created by COVID-19
was weaker compared to last year. Furthermore, our major supplier introduced
its own proprietary silicon, a new ground-breaking chip design reputed to have
the world’s fastest CPU core “in low power silicon” and the world’s best CPU
performance per watt chip (SoC) in the fourth quarter of 2020 thus causing a
severe drop in prices on refurbished and end-of-life products, resulting in the
decrease in revenue of the Group.

The Group also developed an online trade-in platform and cooperated with
international brands as their trade-in partners for certain IT products. The
trade-in volume has been steadily growing and has partially made up the
decrease in revenue from distribution of refurbished and end-of-life products,
and resulting in a smaller decrease in the total revenue of the Group.

The sales and distribution of video surveillance systems is highly competitive, in
particular, the Group directly and indirectly competes with large global vendors
in form of pricing, range of services provided and information technology.

The Group’s advantages to compete against other global distributors are
management’s expertise and proven track record, together with being a
member of the Foxconn Technology Group that is worldwide well-known and
has strong business bond with numbers of international brands. The Group
will continue to manage its tied up working capital by improving the inventory
turnover days and mitigating the inventory risk, with an aim to shorten the cash
conversion cycle.

During the year, the Group continued to review and re-evaluate its business
model, with an aim to improve efficiency, and achieve a higher profit margin in
the long run. The Group will continue to closely monitor the market situations
and make necessary adjustments to its strategies and operations. In light of
lessons learnt from COVID-led supply constraints, the Group will evaluate its
operation and explore the opportunity for other sustainable and stable lines of
business.

6 HEEEEERAERAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Provision of repairs and other service support of IT products

The Group provides full range of after-sales maintenance for video surveillance
products carrying our own brand name. Smart device applications were also
developed by the Group to provide remote control and monitoring of the video
surveillance products. During the year, a repair center of the Group commenced
operation and started to provide end-to-end repair services, from reverse
logistics, bench repair services and spare parts storage and distribution, to
customer delivery. The Group aims to provide best-in-class repair and rework
services to ensure that our customers’ issues are resolved quickly and with
minimum impact to their business.

Due to COVID-19, there was delay in the business plan for the expansion of
the repairs and service support segment, including the set up of new repair
centers. The Group will closely monitor the market situation, assess and react
actively to its impacts on planned expansion of service support business.

Segment information by business line

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the revenue from sales and
distribution of IT products continued to be the largest source of income which
accounted for approximately 98.6% of the revenue. Revenue from sales and
distribution of IT products is generated from sales and distribution of third-party
IT products and video surveillance products carrying our own brand name.
The decrease in revenue from this segment was mainly due to decrease in the
quantity and the price of the third-party IT products as a result of advancement
of technology as more particularly explained in “Business Review — Sales and
distribution of IT products”.

BE+-_A=+—HLEE
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2021 2020
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HK$°000 HK$'000

HE KD HEITE B Sales and distribution of IT products 345,129 372,643
HERIRE S E Repairs and service support 4,741 316
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T F+ZA=1+—HIEFE 244,700,000 5T °
ZOBERAENMDEEHERFERMANEERES
BHRREEERUINNBETERREZBERMN
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The revenue generated from repairs and service support increased from
approximately HK$0.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to
approximately HK$4.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The
increase in revenue from this segment was mainly due to the expanded service
support of electronic products in addition to video surveillance products
carrying our own brand name.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Segment information by geographical location
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Hong Kong market continued to be the two largest markets of the Group in
terms of their respective contribution to the revenue of the Group. The United
States market overtook the Hong Kong market and contributed approximately
31.6% (2020: 30.5%) of the Group’s revenue. The Taiwan market overtook
the Netherlands market and contributed approximately 20.9% (2020: 4.4%) of
the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2021. The Hong Kong
market contributed approximately 30.3% (2020: 39.2%) of the Group’s revenue
for the year ended 31 December 2021. The change in the composition of the
revenue was due to the change of product mix driven by the demand and
supply of the IT products in each of the geographical locations.

PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT

Building upon the foundation and experience of the management team in
international distribution, the Group has further expanded its consumer
electronic product offering in multi-jurisdictions that are complementary to
its current business offering. The 3C Products are refurbished and end-of-
life units. Through the Group’s international distribution channels, the Group
extends the useful life of 3C Products in the post-sales circular economy.

The Group also launched several new products, including MP Automatic
License Plate Recognition Camera, GN High level security system and certain
new Al cameras to strengthen the Group’s product portfolio and enhance the
Group’s competitiveness in the market. A unique hacker resistant technology is
incorporated into a range of product which is designed to prevent hackers from
extracting confidential video data from security cameras, giving users a peace
of mind.

8 HEEEEERAERAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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BUSINESS RISK RELATING TO THE GROUP

The Group may not be able to keep up with technological changes in
the video surveillance industry in order to remain competitive

The Group has continuously invested in research and development to develop
updates and new products in order to maintain the Group’s competitive edge
in the market. The performance of the Group depends on the Group’s ability to
develop updates to its existing products and to develop new products, which
in turn is determined by the Group’s research efforts to develop technologies
which keep up with the latest technological trends in the industry and the
Group’s timely recruitment of personnel with the relevant skills. The effect of
emerging and future technological changes in relation to product specifications
to the Group’s research and development plans or the level of technologies is
unpredictable.

In addition, our competitors may develop technologies and products that are
superior to ours in terms of quality and/or price. Failure to respond to the
technological developments and maintain or enhance our competitiveness
within the industry or maintain our customer base may result in decrease in
profit margins and loss of market share, and our financial performance and
profitability may be adversely affected.

The Group’s insurance may be insufficient to cover all losses
associated with its business operations

The Group maintains insurance policies against loss or damage to its office
and business interruption, public liability and employees’ compensation. The
insurance coverage may be insufficient to cover all the risks associated with
the Group’s business and operations in the future. In the case of an uninsured
loss or a loss in excess of insured limit, including those caused by natural
disasters and other events beyond the Group’s control, the Group may be
required to pay for losses, damages and liabilities out of its own funds, which
could materially and adversely affect its business, financial conditions and
results of operations. Even if the insurance coverage is adequate to cover its
direct losses, the Group may need to be responsible for the indirect losses.
Furthermore, claim records of the Group may affect the premiums which
insurance companies charge in the future.

Despite of the above, the Group considers that the current insurance coverage

is sufficient for its existing operation scale and the Group will review its
insurance policies from time to time.

Annual Report 2021 g 9



Eig aY nm&ﬁ*ﬁ'

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHBAIR

BENR - FEENERKBERNER  A5H
FBEHTEMmDEEBR BEIIIRS  MEEERE
DIERITERDHEES Lo ERBEAEENERE
G UENERER Y ARREREEREREND

%EZC’

RETEFAEEZEFEORBRBEERNE—
EB0R ENMERBRBXEIBEMAEAERE
BUWAFHNER ~EEBEHERRBEDE
FEERNEREM FEBARETEREREEK
R EDIE TEE‘”I%ﬂ*%u%%%ﬂ%lhﬂ%

REBRBROEHEFEREERE -EEBRRY
EERCOVID-19ME RGN s KB BEHHH K

ERMBRRREERBENNTE-

FEBTEEVEREMBEREEIZFOENSERE
pE @}E}ET#SCEDDE’]E1&HE$&EM&3CEDDLX§

EERME -EEERR ETHEMRBREREY
Z'Sié%%Er%ﬁz@ﬂ&ﬁé?%ﬁ%&kﬂzﬁﬁ@ﬁ%ﬁﬁ

%o

FERREENREEER - BEARRBEEERGER
ERPER - BEEERAYUAETINETHMERT
B SEREBERREHEEEAMAZ ILEERE
AREBRABEBIMABEBRAIEY KRB
(HB A AR M MBS HMNEN)

Fi #55 [0l B
WA

FEBTEREMEXEHE B)HEERDHITE
m RNEERBRSRZXE - B@E T " —F+_-A4
=+t- EILthF AEEBU ALK 73349,870,000
BT BBE_T_EFE+_A=+—HLFEY
372,959,000%7‘5%&&]6.2% WAL EZBR
RMARERE=FTERNHERER TR %
EJyAE SNl fan

HEM

HERAZTERDAEFEER KR BEFKSH L —
BEBE_E_—EFE+_A=t+—HIEFEZHE
RARBEE_ZE_ZTE+A=1+—HIEFEEHY
342,055,00078 758 . #95.2% E £9324,322,00078 7t ©

FrEEREEB GTAEENE) £4370,00058 7T M
RBE_Z_ZF+_A=+—HLEEEFHEED

1,478,00078 7t > S PR IH 7 S A PTHE N

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Building upon the foundation and experience gained in 2021, the Group
expects to face keen competition in the IT product distribution business and
the management will closely monitor the IT product distribution business and
may adjust the Group’s business portfolio in a bid to increase customer base
and generate better and more stable returns to the Shareholders.

In order to diversify the business portfolio of the Group and to avoid
overconcentration on a single business segment, given the current contribution
of the repairs and service support segment to the overall revenue of the
Group, the Group believes that there is plenty of room for growth of the
repairs and service support segment. The Group will focus its resources on the
development of the repairs and service support segment, in particular setting
up repair centers to provide repair services of electronic products for renowned
IT brands and their service centers. The management will closely monitor the
development of COVID-19, assess and react actively to its impacts on the
financial position and operating results of the Group.

The Group is also exploring suitable opportunities to invest in the “Circular
Economy” business segment, from providing after-sales services of 3C
products to recycling of 3C products to reproduce raw materials. The
management believes that making the relevant strategic investment will enable
the Group to strengthen its development foundation in “Green Technology” and
enhance the Group’s business image.

The Group will continuously strengthen the management team, expand the
international footprint and broaden its customer base. The management
anticipates additional fundraising may from time to time be required to
support the working capital expenditure for such business growth. This entails
investment in expanding and revamping overseas organisation structure, and
potential capital expenditures if it is deemed to strategically enhance our
capabilities.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group mainly engages in two business segments, namely, i) sales and
distribution of IT products; and ii) repairs and service support. The Group’s
total revenue amounted to approximately HK$349,870,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2021, representing a slight drop of approximately 6.2%
as compared to that of approximately HK$372,959,000 for the year ended
31 December 2020. The decrease in revenue was mainly due to decrease
in the quantity and the price of the third-party IT products as a result of
the advancement of technology as more particularly explained in “Business
Review”.

Cost of sales

A major component of the cost of sales was the cost of inventories. In
line with the decrease in business volume, the cost of sales for the year
ended 31 December 2021 decreased to approximately HK$324,322,000,
representing a decrease of approximately 5.2%, as compared to that of
approximately HK$342,055,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020. There
was a net provision of inventories (included in the cost of sales) amounted to
approximately HK$370,000 as compared to a net provision of approximately
HK$1,478,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 to account for the
increase in slow-moving inventories.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit decreased by approximately HK$5,356,000 to approximately
HK$25,548,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
HK$30,904,000), which was in line with the decline in business volume. The
overall gross profit margin slightly decreased from approximately 8.3% for
the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately 7.3% for the year ended
31 December 2021, which was mainly due to the weaker demand for smart
devices created by COVID-19 compared to last year.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses increased to approximately HK$9,171,000
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: HK$6,397,000). The major
components of the selling and distribution expenses were staff costs, take-
back and data wiping cost for used devices and warehousing charges. During
the year, the Group has broadened the used devices take-back channel, thus
caused an increase in take-back and data wiping cost.

Administrative expenses

During the year ended 31 December 2021, administrative expenses decreased
by approximately 15.6% to approximately HK$14,870,000. It was mainly due
to the decrease in professional fees incurred and the recognition of foreign
exchange gain arising from the currency fluctuation of Euro in 2021 (2020:
foreign exchange loss). With improvements in operating efficiencies and
rigorous financial discipline, the Group has been able to keep its administrative
expenses reasonable low.

Net profit for the year

Net profit attributable to the Shareholders decreased by approximately
HK$6,765,000 to approximately HK$2,232,000. Net profit margin for the year
decreased to approximately 0.6% (2020: 2.4%) as a result of the decrease
in revenue, which had a lower profit margin. The Group considers that the
decrease in profitability is generally in line with and comparable with the
financial figures of the Group for the nine months ended 30 September 2021 as
disclosed in the third quarterly report of the Company.

Basic earnings per share decreased to HK9.52 cents in 2021, compared with
HK38.39 cents in 2020.

Inventories and trade receivables

As at 31 December 2021, the inventory level increased to approximately
HK$55,525,000 (31 December 2020: HK$32,256,000). Over 95% of the
inventory balances were purchased in the fourth quarter ins2021 and ready
to be sold in the first quarter in 2022. The Group will continue to monitor the
inventory level and reduce the inventory risk, with an aim to shorten the cash
conversion cycle.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Inventories and trade receivables (continued)

Trade receivables increased to approximately HK$13,403,000 as at 31
December 2021 (31 December 2020: HK$824,000). Such increase in trade
receivables was attributable to new credit lines granted to customers. The
Group maintains strict control on credit lines granted to customers. During
the year, customers of the Group maintain good credit history and no material
impairment of trade receivables is recognised.

Key financial performance

The above financial data were chosen to be presented in this annual report
as they represent a material financial impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the current financial year and/or the previous
financial year, that a change of which could affect the revenue and profit
conspicuously. It is believed that the Group can effectively explain the financial
performance of the Group for the year by presenting the changes of these
financial data.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended
31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company does not have a fixed dividend policy. It shall consider, the
following factors before declaring or recommending dividends:

- the general financial condition of the Group;

- the Group’s actual and future operations and liquidity position;

- the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future expansion
plans;

- the Group’s debt to equity ratios and the debt level;

- the restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the
Group’s lenders (if any);

- the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group;

- the general market conditions; and

- any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

Declaration of dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions
under the Laws of Cayman Islands, the memorandum and articles of
association of the Company and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As of 31 December 2021, the Group employed 20 (31 December 2020: 21)
full-time employees in Hong Kong and 15 (831 December 2020: 10) full-time
employees in the People’s Republic of China and overseas offices. The staff
costs of the Group, including directors’ emoluments, employees’ salaries
and commissions, retirement benefit scheme contributions and other benefits
amounted to approximately HK$13,408,000 for the year ended 31 December
2021 (2020: HK$13,719,000).

Employees are remunerated in accordance with individual’s responsibility and
performance, also taking into account the prevailing market rates to ensure
competitiveness. Other fringe benefits such as medical insurance,
benefits and discretionary bonus are offered to all employees.

retirement

A share option scheme was approved and adopted at the annual general
meeting of the Company on 11 November 2016.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
GEARING RATIO

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group financed its daily
operations with internally generated resources and net proceeds from the rights
issue completed on 20 October 2017 (the “Rights Issue”). As at 31 December
2021, the Group had net current assets of approximately HK$125,266,000 (31
December 2020: HK$122,177,000) and cash and cash equivalents amounted
to approximately HK$98,850,000 (31 December 2020: HK$104,695,000). The
Group had no borrowings outstanding as at 31 December 2021.

As at 31 December 2021, the gearing ratio, which is calculating on the basis of
total debts over total equity of the Group, was 53.4% (2020: 33.7%).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2021, the Company had an authorised share capital of
HK$80,000,000 divided into 400,000,000 shares of a par value of HK$0.20
each, of which 23,433,783 shares were in issue. No convertible securities,
options, warrants or similar rights by the Company or its subsidiaries were
outstanding during the year.

The Group did not have any borrowings during the year ended 31 December
2021.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

The Group did not hold any significant investments during the year ended 31
December 2021.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

The Group did not make any material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries
and affiliated companies for the year ended 31 December 2021.

CHARGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, a bank deposit of US$4,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$31,194,000) (31 December 2020: US$4,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$31,220,000)) was pledged to a bank for the bank facility
amounting to US$8,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$62,388,000)
granted to the Group. Such bank facility was drawn by the Group to issue a
standby letter of credit to the key supplier of the Group in the financial year
ended 31 December 2021.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Use of Proceeds from Rights Issue”
of this report, to continue executing its investment plan of augmenting its
international distribution and fulfilment capabilities, the Group may, depending
on circumstances and market conditions, consider the need for fundraising
and/or financing from time to time in order to strengthen its human resources,
plant and equipment and working capital. This will enable the Group to not
only serve the distribution and fulfilment requirements of its own products, but
also acquire the capabilities to support strategic third-party business partners
with innovative revenue models with a view to delivering enhanced value to
Shareholders.

In addition, to accelerate the Group’s capabilities to offer innovative revenue
models in relation to IT hardware distribution and fulfilment support, the Board
may contemplate selective strategic investments by means of stock and/or
cash when suitable opportunities arise.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, Taiwan, US and Europe with most
of the transactions settled in HK$, United States dollars (“USD”) and Euro. The
Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk from various currencies, primarily
with respect to USD and Euro. The management has a policy to manage the
foreign exchange risk against the functional currencies of the Group. It mainly
includes managing the foreign exchange risk by performing regular reviews
of the Group’s net foreign exchange exposures and would consider the use
of foreign exchange contracts to manage foreign exchange risks, where
appropriate. The Group did not enter into any foreign currency derivative
financial instruments for the year ended 31 December 2021. The Group did not
use any financial instruments for hedging purposes during the year ended 31
December 2021 (2020: Nil).
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities (31 December 2020: Nil).

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM RIGHTS ISSUE

The Group completed the Rights Issue on 20 October 2017 resulting in net
proceeds of approximately HK$98,428,000. With reference to the circular
dated 26 September 2017 and the announcement dated 28 March 2018, the
details of the proposed use of proceeds and the actual use of proceeds are as
follows:—

1. Approximately HK$7,600,000 to expand the repairs and service support
business;

2. Approximately HK$73,000,000 for the development of the IT products
trading business; and

38 Approximately HK$17,800,000 for the strategic investment in the
business segment of “circular economy”.

Up to 31 December 2021, the proceeds of HK$7,600,000 were fully utilised to
facilitating the expansion of the Group’s existing repairs and service support
business. Certain overseas entities and a repair center have been set up and
under operation.

The proceeds of HK$73,000,000 for the development of the IT products trading
business were fully utilised by 30 June 2018.

The proceeds of HK$17,800,000 for the strategic investment in the business
segment of “circular economy” were fully utilised by 31 December 2018. The
Group completed an acquisition of 21% of the issued share capital of 4Square
Return GmbH. 4Square Return GmbH engaged in compliance consulting, the
provision of take-back services and value recycling economy for the electronics
industry. The Group considers that such investment would enable the Group to
enhance its exposure in green technology and enhance the Group’s business
profile.

The Directors considered that the net proceeds were applied in accordance
with the intended uses as previously disclosed.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hong Sung-Tai GE#2%) (‘Mr. Hong"), age 66 was re-designated as an
executive Director and appointed as the chairman of the Board on 31 May
2019. Mr. Hong is the chief financial officer of PCEBG, a business group of Hon
Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd. (“Hon Hai”), and the supervisor of HONGFUJIN
Precision Industry (Wuhan) Co. Ltd., a subsidiary of Hon Hai. Mr. Hong was
previously a senior financial director in Philips group between 1979 and 2003,
where he was responsible for finance and accounting for the administration
division of the aforesaid company in Chungli, Taiwan. Mr. Hong holds a
master’s degree in the Department of EMBA in the National Chengchi University
of Taiwan.

Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan ([§#%:f) (“Ms. Chen”), aged 59, was appointed
as an executive Director on 10 June 2016 and the chief executive officer of
the Company, the compliance officer of the Company on 15 May 2020. She
is a senior director of Hon Hai and the Head of its Global Service Solutions
Division. She was previously a manager in Foxconn Assembly LLC. between
2003 and 2007, where she was responsible for cost management for the
Global Service Solutions Division in Houston Site. Ms. Chen worked in Intoka
Inc. as a software developer from 1997 to 2001 where she was
primarily responsible for developing software resources management systems.
Ms. Chen was previously a researcher in the Department of Meteorology in the
University of Utah between 1995 and 1996 and an associate researcher at the
Central Weather Bureau in Taiwan from 1987 to 1992. Ms. Chen obtained a
postgraduate degree in Atmospheric Sciences from National Taiwan University
in 1987.

Software,

Mr. Han Chun-Wei (8 & &) (“Mr. Han"), aged 38, was appointed as an
executive Director and chief financial officer on 31 May 2019. He is the
finance manager of PCEBG, a business group of Hon Hai. Mr. Han worked in
a managerial grade position in the assurance department of an international
accounting firm from 2006 to 2008. He was previously the finance manager of
Ever-Island Group, where he was responsible for finance and accounting work
of the abovementioned company in Suzhou and Dongguan, China. Mr. Han
holds a bachelor’s degree in accounting from National Chengchi University
in Taiwan and a master’s degree in financial engineering from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann (23%8) (‘Mr. Tsai’), aged 60, was appointed as an
executive Director on 31 May 2019. He was the group chief operating officer
of Noah Holdings Limited, a leading Chinese private wealth management firm
listed on the New York Stock Exchange, from 2012 to 2018. Prior to that, Mr.
Tsai was the chief operating officer and executive vice president of Yuanta
Securities, a top securities firm in Taiwan, from 2008 to 2011 and the North
Asia chief operating officer of RBS&ABN AMRO from 1997 to 2008. Between
1989 and 1997, Mr. Tsai worked for leading financial institutions such as
American Express Financial Advisors and Household Finance Corporation in
the United States. Mr. Tsai holds a master's degree in chemical engineering
from University of Southern California and a master’s degree in business
administration from University of lllinois at Urbana-Champaign in the United
States.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Kao Chao Yang (F&7¥) (‘Mr. Kao”), age 53, was appointed as an non-
executive Director on 31 May 2019. He has over 23 years of experience in
the electronic, manufacturing and information technology industry. Mr. Kao is
currently an executive director of Maxnerva Technology Services Limited (stock
code: 1037, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange). He has been the vice-president of Foxconn Technology Group since
2015. Mr. Kao currently oversees the Foxconn Global Operations which is both
a key business and strategic division responsible for driving initiatives across
several significant areas of manufacturing and supply chain management
(fulfillment and reverse logistic services). Prior to that, Mr. Kao held various
duties within Foxconn Group including start-up manufacturing sites, directing
supply chain operations, business account management with global customer
presence and administering information technology initiatives across China, US,
Czech Republic and Mexico. Mr. Kao obtained a Master of Science in industrial
& operations engineering from the University of Michigan in the United States
of America and a Bachelor of Science in industrial design from Cheng-Kung
University in Taiwan.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter (17 {£1#) (‘Mr. Yeung”), aged 64, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 10 June 2016. He was an
independent non-executive director of The Hong Kong Building and Loan
Agency Limited (stock code: 0145, a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange), from February 2011 to June 2018. Mr. Yeung holds a
bachelor of laws degree from the University of London and a postgraduate
certificate in laws from the University of Hong Kong. He is a solicitor of the High
Court of Hong Kong. Mr. Yeung has been a practicing solicitor for over 31 years
and a partner of Messrs Hau, Lau, Li & Yeung, Solicitors & Notaries.

Mr. Li, Robin Kit Ling (F#2) (‘Mr. Li"), aged 63, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 December 2017. Mr. Li holds a
degree of Bachelor of Commerce from the University of British Columbia,
Canada and a degree of Master of Business Administration from the University
of Strathclyde, Scotland. Mr. Li is a member of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of British Columbia. Mr. Li has extensive experience in accounting
and financial management. He had held senior positions in accounting and
finance in large corporations and multinationals, including Towona Media
Holding Company Limited, News Corporation Limited, Pepsi-Cola International,
and Apple Computer International Limited. Mr. Li also worked as a lecturer in
several accounting programmes of HKU School of Professional and Continuing
Education, and a part-time lecturer at FTMS Training Systems (HK) Ltd for the
preparatory ACCA examination courses.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)

Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben (FZEZ5) (‘Mr. Miao”), aged 47, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 27 June 2016. He is currently the
managing director and Head of Corporate Finance at the Hong Kong Branch of
Cathay United Bank and is responsible for its international investment banking
business. Mr. Miao was formerly a Senior Portfolio Manager with the Dutch
pension asset manager APG Asset Management Asia and was responsible
for originating, structuring and executing direct and fund investments in Asia-
Pacific. Prior to that, Mr. Miao was an investment director with the China-
ASEAN Fund where he was involved in originating, structuring and executing
direct private equity investments in the ASEAN region. He also worked
previously as a Vice President at Citigroup within its Investment Banking and
Fixed Income divisions in New York, Australia and Hong Kong. Mr. Miao has
a Bachelor of Science degree in Finance from California State Polytechnic
University — Pomona, and an MBA from Pennsylvania State University. He is
also a Chartered Financial Analyst.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tam Hoi Kwong (FB&lY¢) (‘Mr. Tam”), aged 34, is the financial controller
of the Group since May 2017. He is primarily responsible for financial reporting,
financial control matters, and corporate secretarial matters of the Group. Mr.
Tam has more than 11 years of experience in accounting and auditing fields in
Hong Kong since 2010. Prior to joining the Group, he worked in a managerial
grade position in the assurance department of an international accounting firm.
Mr. Tam obtained a Bachelor's Degree in Commerce from University of New
South Wales, Australia, in August 2010. He is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since April 2014.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ho Ka Ho (fIR %) (‘Mr. Ho"), aged 50, is the chief executive officer of
the video surveillance business line. Mr. Ho has over 27 years of experience in
computer architecture, software engineering and digital signal processing. Mr.
Ho obtained his bachelor of engineering degree in computer engineering with
first class honours and master of science degree in electronic engineering from
the City University of Hong Kong.
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The Directors submit their report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The activities of the
subsidiaries are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 December
2021 by operating segments is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 62.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended
31 December 2021.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2021 amounted to HK$46,000 (2020: HK$59,500).

SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

No shares were issued in the year ended 31 December 2021. Reference is
made to Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”, no equity-
linked agreements were entered into by the Company at any time during the
year ended 31 December 2021 or subsisted at the end of the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 December 2021 comprise of share
premium, and accumulated loss in aggregate amounted to HK$108,417,000
(2020: HK$111,263,000) provided that, after distribution, the Company will be
able to pay its debts as they fall due in its ordinary course of business.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 156 of the annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the year. Neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or sold any of the
Company’s shares during the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme in the annual general meeting
held on 11 November 2016. The purpose of the share option scheme is to
attract and retain the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive
to employees (full-time and part-time), directors, consultants, advisers,
distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners and
service providers of the Group and to promote the success of the business of
the Group.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms as it may think
fit, grant any employee (full-time or part-time), director, consultant or adviser
of the Group, or any substantial shareholder of the Group, or any distributor,
contractor, supplier, agent, customer, business partner or service provider of
the Group, options to subscribe for such number of shares as it may determine
in accordance with the terms of the share option scheme.

The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular option granted
under the share option scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board
and notified to a participant and shall be at least the higher of: (i) the closing
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of grant of the option, which must be a business day; (ii) the average
closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
option; or (iii) the nominal value of a share on the date of grant of the option.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of
options granted to any participant (including both exercised and outstanding
options) under the share option scheme, in any 12-month period up to the date
of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue. Any further grant of options
in excess of such limit must be separately approved by Shareholders in general
meeting with such grantee and his close associates (or his associates if such
grantee is a connected person) abstaining from voting.

An offer for the grant if options must be accepted within seven days, inclusive
of the day on which such offer was made. The amount payable by the grantee
of an option to the Company on acceptance of an offer for the grant of
option(s) is HK$1.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The share option scheme does not specify a minimum period for which an
option must be held. An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the share option scheme at any time during a period as the Board may
determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant subject to
the provisions of early termination thereof. The share option scheme will remain
in force for a period of ten years commencing on the date of its adoption on 11
November 2016 and will expire at the close of business on 10 November 2026.
Under the said scheme and following the share consolidation, the maximum
number of shares of the Company that may be issued upon the exercise of
options that may be granted is 1,673,841 shares, representing approximately
7.1% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this report.
Details of the share option scheme of the Company are set out in Note 25 to
the consolidated financial statements. No share options were granted under the
share option scheme since its adoption.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2021 and
up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Hong Sung-Tai (Chairman)

Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Han Chun-Wei (Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann

Non-executive Director

Mr. Kao Chao Yang

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter

Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling

Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben

In accordance with Article 87(1) of the articles of association of the Company,
Mr. Han Chun-Wei, Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann and Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling will retire from

office by rotation. They, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election pursuant
to Article 87(2) of the articles of association of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

All the Directors have entered into letters of appointment with the Company
for an initial term of one year and should continue thereafter unless and until
terminated by either party by giving to the other not less than three months’
notice in writing.

DIRECTOR’S SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

Other than the related party transaction disclosed in Note 33(c) to the
consolidated financial statements, no transactions, arrangements and contracts
of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Group was a
party and in which a Director of the Company or an entity connected with a
Director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at anytime during the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time for the year ended 31 December 2021 was the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate and none of the
Directors, their spouses or children under the age of eighteen, had any rights
to subscribe for securities of the Company, or had exercised any such rights
during the year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out on
pages 16 to 18 of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SHARES

As of 31 December 2021,
Company is interested in or has short positions in any shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”)) which were required under Divisions
7 and 8 of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO, or which
were required under Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

none of the Directors, and chief executives of the

Long position in shares of the Company as at 31 December 2021

AT

e HE#EE BEITERAE
ZRHEE B (84
Percentage

of the issued

share capital

Number of of the
shares held/ Company

Name of Shareholders Capacity interested (approximate)

Foxconn (Far East) Limited Beneficial owner 11,853,524 50.58%
BmEAA

Hon Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd. Interest in a controlled corporation 11,853,524 50.58%

BEREIXRNARAR REREE D
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Foxconn (Far East) Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hon Hai Precision Industry Co.,
Ltd. (the “Hon Hai”), a company incorporated in Taiwan and listed on the Taiwan Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2317.TW). Hon Hai is deemed to be interested in the shares of the
Company held by Foxconn (Far East) Limited under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Company had not been
notified by any other persons (other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares and the underlying
shares of the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2.and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases
— the largest supplier 35.5%
— five largest suppliers in aggregate 78.2%
Sales
- the largest customer 20.9%
— five largest customers in aggregate 61.8%

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors, who owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) had an interest in these major suppliers or customers.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Service Framework Agreement

On 14 January 2020, the Company entered into a service framework
agreement (the “Service Framework Agreement”) with Fuhongjie
Technology Service Limited Company (the “Fuhongjie”, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of Hon Hai). As at this report date, Hon Hai is a controlling
shareholder of the Company indirectly holding 50.58% of the issued shares of
the Company.

Pursuant to the Service Framework Agreement, Fuhongjie agreed to provide
maintenance and value-added services for mobile phone, mobile phone
display, and Bluetooth earpieces, including checking, maintenance, assembly,
testing and packaging to the Group (the “Services Transactions”) for a
term from 3 March 2020 to 31 December 2022. The annual caps of the
Services Framework Agreement (the “Service Caps”) for the financial years
ended/ending 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 are HK$55,000,000,
HK$61,000,000 and HK$67,000,000, respectively.

Based on the applicable size tests performed with respect to the Service Caps
under the Service Framework Agreement, as all of the applicable percentage
ratios in respect of the Services Caps are higher than 5% and more than
HK$10,000,000 on an annual basis, the Service Transactions are subject to
the reporting, annual review, announcement and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. As a result,
an extraordinary general meeting was convened on 3 March 2020 where the
independent Shareholders approved the Service Framework Agreement.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
Sale Framework Agreement

On 3 July 2020, the Company entered into a sale framework agreement (the
“Sale Framework Agreement”) with Hon Hai.

Pursuant to the Sale Framework Agreement, the Group may sell IT products,
including but not limited to raw materials and electronic parts, to Hon Hai and
its subsidiaries and associates (the “Hon Hai Group”), and Hon Hai Group
may purchase the IT products from the Group (the “Sale Transactions”) for
a term from 3 July 2020 to 31 December 2022. The annual caps of the Sale
Framework Agreement (the “Sale Caps”) for the financial years ended/ending
31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 are HK$8,900,000, HK$9,400,000 and
HK$9,800,000, respectively.

Based on the applicable size tests performed with respect to the Sale Caps
under the Sale Framework Agreement, as the highest applicable percentage
ratio in respect of the Sale Caps are more than 5% but less than 25% and
the Sale Caps are less than HK$10,000,000 on an annual basis, the Sale
Transaction is only subject to the reporting, annual review and announcement
requirements but is exempt from the independent Shareholders’ approval
requirement under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Continuing Connected Transactions for the reporting year

The annual caps and actual transaction amount for the Group’s continuing
connected transactions with Fuhongjie and Hon Hai Group during the reporting
year are set out in the table below. All the actual transaction amount of the
Group’s continuing connected transaction did not exceed the respective annual
caps.

T —% —E-—%
FELR ERRZEHE
Actual

Transaction

Annual Caps Amount for

for 2021 2021
FAET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000

HETRM5 With Fuhongjie
—HERE - Repair services 61,000 =
(Note 1)
(HtaE1)

BERERE With Hon Hai Group

—HE - Sales 9,400 107
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

The Continuing Connected Transactions for the reporting year
(continued)

Note 1:

Due to COVID-19, there was delay in the business plan for the expansion of the above repair
and spare parts fulfillment business. The Group will closely monitor the market situation,
assess and react actively to its impacts on planned expansion of service support business.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed that all
the continuing connected transactions taken place during the reporting year
were (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the group; (ii) on normal
commercial terms or better; and (iii) in according with the relevant agreements
governing the same on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the company’s shareholders as a whole. Moreover, the Company’s auditor
has provided an unqualified letter to the Board containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions taken place
during the reporting year in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the
Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions as disclosed
in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements constituted connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction under the Listing Rules.
The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

There was no contract of significance between the Company or one of
its subsidiaries on one hand, and a controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries on the other, subsisting during or for the year ended 31 December
2021. There was also no other contract of significance for the provision of
services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder
or any of its subsidiaries during or at the end of the same period.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules, with reference to confirmation which, the Company
considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY FOR DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Company are
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

COMPETING BUSINESS

For the year ended 31 December 2021, none of the Directors, controlling
shareholder or their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) has any interests in a business that competes or may compete either
directly or indirectly with the business of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, it is confirmed that there is sufficient public
float of at least 25% of the Company’s issued shares at the date of this annual
report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the Company are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 29 to 41.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) for the benefit of the
existing Directors of the Company is currently in force and was in force
throughout this year.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the environment and
communities in which it operates. Green initiatives and measures including
recycling of resources, energy saving and eco-friendly management practice,
have been adopted in the daily operation of the Group. As a responsible
corporation, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group has complied
with all relevant laws and regulations regarding environmental protection for the
year ended 31 December 2021.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements and the risk of non-compliance with such requirements.
The Group conducts on-going reviews of newly enacted/revised laws and
regulations affecting its operations. The Company is not aware of any non-
compliance in any material respect with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS,
CUSTOMERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands that the success of the Group’s business depends
on the support from its key stakeholders, including employees, customers,
suppliers, banks, regulators and shareholders. The Group will continue to
ensure effective communication and maintain good relationship with each of its
key stakeholders.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 is set
out in the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis
on page 5 and page 6 respectively of this annual report. A description of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing by the Group can be found in Note
3 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis using financial key
performance indicators can be found in the Management Discussion and
Analysis on pages 6 to 15 of this annual report.

AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”) resigned as the auditor of the Company with
effect from 5 July 2019. BDO Limited (“BDO”) was appointed as the auditor of
the Company with effect from 5 July 2019 to fill the casual vacancy following
the resignation of PwC. The appointment of BDO was approved by the
Shareholders in the annual general meetings on 8 May 2020 and 20 May 2021.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2021 have been audited by BDO who will retire and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-appointment in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Hong Sung-Tai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2022
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The Board of Directors is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, overseeing the
Group‘s strategic decisions and monitoring the business and performance of
the Group. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-
day management and operation of the Group to the chief executive officer and
senior management of the Group.

As of the date of this report, the Board comprises of 8 Directors, consisting
of 4 executive Directors, 1 non-executive Director and 3 independent non-
executive Directors, whose names, roles and functions are listed below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Hong Sung-Tai
(chairman of the Board and member of Remuneration Committee)
Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan
(Chief Executive Officer, member of Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee)
Mr. Han Chun-Wei (Chief Financial Officer)
Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann

Non-executive Director
Mr. Kao Chao Yang
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter
(chairman of Remuneration Committee, member of Audit Committee and
Nomination Committee)

Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling
(chairman of Audit Committee, member of Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben
(chairman of Nomination Committee, member of Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee)

In compliance with code provision C.2.1 (former code provision A.2.1), the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer are separate and performed by different
persons to ensure balance of power and authority. An updated list of Directors
is published on the websites of the Company and GEM. The independent non-
executive Directors are expressly identified in all corporate communication
pursuant to code provision B.1.1 (former code provision A.3.1) of Appendix 15
to the GEM Listing Rules.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

In compliance with Rule 5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company
has appointed three independent non-executive Directors and at least one
of them possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise. The independent non-executive
Directors are invited to serve on various committees of the Company as
detailed above.

Nomination and Board Diversity

The Nomination Committee is primarily responsible for identifying and
nominating, for approval by the Board, suitably qualified candidates to become
members of the Board as additional directors or to fill casual vacancies.

The Nomination Committee identifies candidates for directorship from
various channels, including but not limited to internal promotion, referral by
management and external recruitment agents. The Nomination Committee
may also receive nomination of candidates for election as Director(s) from
shareholder(s).

After the candidates are identified, the Nomination Committee will consider the
biographical information of the candidates and evaluate the candidates based
on certain criteria and make recommendation to the Board accordingly.

A range of factors are taken into consideration to identify a suitably qualified
candidate. These include:-

- character and integrity of the candidate;

- educational background, qualifications (including professional
qualifications), knowledge and experience of the candidate which are
relevant to the business and operation of the Group;

- time commitment of the candidate to the Group, taking into consideration
the other duties of the candidate; and

- the board diversity policy of the Company.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board
to the quality of its performance. The board diversity policy is put into place
aiming to set out some guidelines for the composition of the Board in order
to achieve diversity in the Board. The Company aims to have a diverse Board
composition measurable by objective criteria, including gender, age, length of
service in the Group, educational background and professional qualifications.
Given the nature of the business of the Group, the Company considers that
it is beneficial for the Board to have some members with experience and
qualification in the information technology industry, in addition to members with
financial and legal qualification.
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Executive Director

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Nomination and Board Diversity (continued)

As at the date of this report, the Board’s composition under major diversified
perspectives was summarised as follows:

EEEHNES T
Board Diversity
FFHITES BIFRITES

Independent Non-Executive Director

BRFSEBR (FF)
Length of Service (Year)

_ HEES
Educational background

. 7%
Professional Industry

KRB REBRBEENERIBBHEARBERT
REBBENERGBEZEEFENESZTIL-ZEES
ERERENBREAZERRAETHESEEFHZ
B U RDBEARHEEIHES Tbz®mo
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REEBZEENRBAN EERNZELHE F
2HEFEREEEZHERI—B-
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BUt® REEESGNENESSEZELAEER
BEMBEEE-

Postgraduate

2z

TRl

Financial

ITREM

IT Hardware

The Company will continue to use its best efforts to maintain a diverse Board
measurable by objectives which are appropriate to the needs of the Company’s
business. Appointment to the Board will be based on merit and contribution
a candidate may bring to the Board, having due regards for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

The current Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are
appointed for an initial of one year. Please refer to the paragraph headed
“Directors’ Letters of Appointment” of the Directors’ Report for more details
on the service contracts/letters of appointment of Directors who served the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2021.

In accordance with Article 87(1) of the articles of association of the Company,
Mr. Han Chun-Wei, Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann and Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling will retire
from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting. They, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election pursuant to Article 87(2) of the
articles of association of the Company.

The Nomination Committee has also recommended to the Board that the
above-mentioned Directors are eligible for re-election, upon evaluating the
respective Director against the selection criteria mentioned above and the
independence of Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Meetings, Committee Meetings and General Meetings

The Board has held regular meetings at approximately quarterly intervals with
participation by a majority of Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, 4 Board meetings, 4 Audit
Committee meetings, 1 Remuneration Committee meeting and 1 Nomination
Committee meeting were held. The attendance record of each Director at
meetings of the Board and various committees and at general meetings during
the period are set out below:

HRER, RN
Attendance/Number of meeting
REEEF - BHZEE nMzEeg R%%Z88
VN - g3 g3 g3 g%
Annual Audit Remuneration Nomination
general Board Committee Committee Committee
meeting meeting meeting meeting meeting
HITES Executive Directors
RIRREE (FE) Mr. Hong Sung-Tai (Chairman) 11 4/4 N/A REH 1 N/A RBR
Rt (fTHAER) Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan il 4/4 N/A REA 11 11
(Chief Executive Officer)
BEREYE (BEHEE) Mr. Han Chun-Wei il 4/4 N/A R N/A AR N/A R
(Chief Financial Officer)
BRHELE Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann 111 4/4 N/A T ER N/A REF N/A RER
FHTES Non-executive Director
BRFLE Mr. Kao Chao Yang 0/1 0/4 N/A R N/A AR N/A R
BUERITES Independent Non-executive Directors
BRIERE GHWEESEE) Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter 1/1 4/4 4/4 11 11
(Chairman of Remuneration Committeg)
THRBEE (BEEEETE) Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling il 4/4 4/4 11 11
(Chairman of Audlit Committeg)
WBERRE EHEEEFE) Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben 01 4/4 4/4 1/1 11

(Chairman of Nomination Committee)

REANEEEREEFTTERCH  RFSLHAIHE
EEEHSES %mﬁﬁ"@:ﬂ BRI AR

FRBIZEBERMRRARRRE ERESNH
EAHESARSEABMBARERERN D ZRS
RNERRLAFAGREEA-

Minutes of Board meetings are kept by the company secretary and opened for
inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by the Directors.

The Company'’s articles of association contain provisions requiring Directors to
abstain from voting and not to be counted towards the quorum at meetings for
the purposes of approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ induction, continuous training and professional
development

The Company has organised an induction for newly appointed Directors in
order to ensure that they have a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and basic knowledge on insider dealings and
responsibilities of directors pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and other
applicable laws in Hong Kong.

Our Directors have participated in continuous professional development

R EBEFAC - HE BEREEUKRGEMEMREA] by attending training courses or reading relevant materials on the topics
RMESTEFEZHBAME 2 RFEREELE- related to corporate governance and regulations, roles, functions, duties and
responsibilities of directors as well as the latest amendments to the GEM
Listing Rules.
HESEZRTEY
Type of continuous professional
Ex Directors development programmes
HIA TR Mr. Hong Sung-Tai B
BERWEL Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann B
PREFAZ LT Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan B
BERKLE Mr. Han Chun-Wei B
= RFERE Mr. Kao Chao Yang B
e T Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling B
B EERE Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter A B
mERLE Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben B
Wzt Notes:
Al HEMPREENESRENASS HE/TEH, A attending seminars/forums/workshops/conferences relevant to the business or
== directors’ duties
B HEREFENERRER B: reading regulatory updates
AV EETRTHBSES EF@E-ME=E8% To assist the Board in discharging its duties, the Board is supported by three

EgrXE HEREZES HFINEZEGREREES
Go LEE G BB E TN BT RAEAE
4Bk o

EFERARBDBREBEAERINERSKEL
E =P %JEE%&L%E/uﬁiﬁu%%é.LE’JFﬁa
MRBRE TARMBABEEREREERS
MRERRERNREARREBE- RBEE_ST " — J*;E
+TZA=+—HLFE ARABEETFGEMLHRA
MiEx16m B ERTRIFAENL T TRIMEX

Board committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee. The terms of reference for the abovementioned
committees are published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board and senior management of the Company commit to achieve a high
standard of corporate governance, to formulate good corporate governance
practice for improvement of accountability and transparency in operations and
to strengthen the internal control and risk management systems from time to
time so as to protect the rights of the shareholders and enhance shareholder
value. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has complied
with the required code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has adopted written terms of reference in compliance
with code provision D.3.3 (former code provision C.3.3) of the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, members of the Audit Committee
were Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling (chairman), Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter and Mr.
Miao Benny Hua-ben, all of them are independent non-executive Directors.
At the discretion of the Audit Committee, executive Directors and/or senior
management personnel overseeing the Group’s finance may be invited to
attend meetings. The Audit Committee normally meets four times a year and
also meets the external auditors twice without the presence of the executive
Directors.

The duties of the Audit Committee include, among other things, reviewing and
monitoring the financial and internal control aspects, risk management system,
audit plan and relationship with external auditors, arrangements to enable
employees of the Company to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, and internal control or other matters of
the Company. The Audit Committee reviews the truth and fairness of the
Company’s financial statements, annual report, interim report and quarterly
reports, discusses with the external auditors the nature and scope of audit
before the audit commences as well as the findings and recommendations
raised by the auditors during and after completion of the audit. The Audit
Committee conducts an assessment, at least annually, of the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control and financial control system, risk management
system, scope of work and appointment of external auditors and arrangements
for employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties. This allows
the Board to monitor the Group’s overall financial position and to protect its
assets. The chairman of the Audit Committee summarises activities of the Audit
Committee, highlights issues arising therefrom, and provides recommendations
for reporting to the Board after each meeting.

The external auditors perform independent statutory audit on the Group’s
financial statements and as part of the audit engagement, report to the Audit
Committee any significant deficiencies (if any) in the Group’s internal control
system which might come to their attention during the course of audit.

The quarterly, interim and annual results of the financial year of 2021, including
the consolidated statement of financial position, consolidated statement of
comprehensive income and consolidated statement of changes in equity
and related notes thereto for the year ended 31 December 2021 have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has adopted written terms of reference in
compliance with code provision E.1.2 (former code provision B.1.2) of the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing
Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, members of the Remuneration
Committee were Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter (chairman), Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling,
Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben (each an independent non-executive Director), Mr.
Hong Sung-Tai and Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan (each an executive Director). The
Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the reporting period and
was responsible for formulating and making recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of the Directors
and senior management, assessing performance of the executive Directors,
approving the terms of letter of appointment of executive Directors, and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on
such remuneration.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has adopted written terms of reference in
compliance with code provision B.3.1 (former code provision A.5.2) of the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing
Rules. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to implement the
Group’s board diversity policy by reviewing the composition of the Board,
identifying suitable candidates for the appointment and re-election of Directors,
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors and
monitoring the succession planning of Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, members of the Nomination
Committee were Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben (chairman), Mr. Yeung Wai Hung
Peter, Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling (each an independent non-executive Director) and
Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan (an executive Director). The Nomination Committee
held one meeting during the reporting period and was responsible for
evaluating and making recommendations for the re-election of directors at the
annual general meeting held on 20 May 2021 and identifying suitably qualified
candidates to become members of the Board.
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DEALINGS IN SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required standard of dealings
set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Upon the Company’s
specific enquiry, each of the Directors (including former Directors who acted as
Director during the reporting period) has confirmed that during his/her tenure as
Director for the year ended 31 December 2021, he/she had fully complied with
the required standard of dealings and there was no event of non-compliance.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in code provision
A.2.1 (former code provision D.3.1) of the Corporate Governance Code as set
out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, continuous professional development of Directors, the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the compliance of the GEM Listing Rules, and the Company’s compliance with
the Corporate Governance Code of the GEM Listing Rules and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for the design, implementation, monitor
and review of the Group’s internal control system including the internal control
and risk management for the Company to ensure their effectiveness and
efficiency. The objective of internal control is to safeguard the Company’s
assets and ensure its accounting records are properly maintained, so that
all the financial information is accurate and reliable. The Group has adopted
a series of internal control policies and procedures designed to provide
reasonable assurance for achieving the objectives including effective and
efficient operations, reliable financial reporting and compliance with applicable
laws and regulations. All employees are committed to continually enhancing
the risk management measures to ensure that these measures work in line
with the growth of the Group’s business strategies and integrated into day-to-
day operation of the business. The Board shall at least annually review its risk
management and internal control system.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

The objectives of the risk management and internal control of the Group
include:

establishing and constantly improving the risk management and internal
control system;

o ensuring the Group’s risk management and internal control in compliance
with the GEM Listing Rules requirements;

o implementing the top-down approach and bottom-up approach that
covers every aspect of the business; and

o managing rather than eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

In order to continually improve the Group’s internal control and risk
management system, the Group has established an ongoing process for
identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the Group.
The key procedures that the Group has established and implemented are
summarised as follows:

o segregating duties and functions of the respective operational
departments of the Group;

o reviewing systems and procedures to identify, measure, manage and
control risks; and

o updating the staff handbook, internal control manual and compliance
manual where there are changes to business environment or regulatory
guidelines.

The Board, by the top-down approach, has a particular focus on determining
the nature and extent of significant risks it is willing to take in achieving the
business strategies of the Group.

Each department of the Group is responsible for identifying its own risks
and designing, implementing and monitoring the relevant risk management
and internal control systems. The process involves the maintenance of staff
handbook, internal control manual and compliance manual setting out the
particulars of material risks together with the control measures as reported by
significant departments of the Group. This bottom-up approach is integrated
into day-to-day operation and complements the top-down strategic view: by
identifying the principal risks and ensuring the significant risks to be considered
by the Board in determining the risk appetite and the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

The diagram below summarises the complementary top-down and bottom-
up aspects of the integrated approach of the Group to risk management and
internal control.
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The Company appointed an independent internal control consultant to perform
a review of internal control system during the year. The review covered
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system including financial,
operational and compliance controls for the financial year.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control system of the Group through discussion with the Audit
Committee on major findings and control issues. The Board considers that
the Group has implemented appropriate procedures safeguarding the Group’s
assets and ensure its accounting records are properly maintained and in
compliance of the relevant laws and regulations. In addition, the Board also
considered the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting and financial
reporting function.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has established and maintained the procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination inside information. The Company
has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company by
the Directors in accordance with Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
Other employees of the Group who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company are also subject to dealing restrictions. The Group
has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or inside information
or any use of such information for the advantage of himself or others. Any
inside information and any information which may potentially constitute inside
information is promptly identified, assessed and escalated to the Board and for
the Board to decide on the need for disclosure. Inside information and other
information which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules
will be announced on the respective websites of GEM and the Company in due
course.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INSURANCE

During the year ended 31 December 2021,
insurance cover in respect of legal action against its Directors and officers.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
IN RESPECT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

the Company has arranged

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual, half-yearly and quarterly reports, other inside information
announcements and other financial disclosures required under the GEM Listing
Rules and other statutory requirements.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities in preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021.
The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial
statements of the Company with a view to ensure that such financial
statements reflect a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company.
The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Therefore, the Directors continue to adopt the
going concern approach in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

The auditors of the Company acknowledge their reporting responsibilities in the

independent auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements for the
reporting period.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2021, BDO was engaged as the Group’s
independent auditors. Apart from the provision of annual audit services, BDO
also provided the non-audit services including interim review services to the
Company.

The remuneration paid/payable to BDO, the auditors, is set out below:

BT
HK$
EIZIRT Audit services 650,000
IEBIZRTE Non-audit services
—BIZPHMEER — carrying out review on interim financial information 100,000
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is
proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings, including
the re-election of individual Directors. Save as provided under the GEM Listing
Rules, resolutions put to vote at the general meetings of the Company (other
than purely administrative and procedural matters) are taken by poll and poll
results are posted on the respective websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange after the general meetings. Notice of the general meetings, annual/
interim/quarterly reports and circulars have been sent to Shareholders in
compliance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

Convening an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the articles of association of the Company,
extraordinary general meetings of the Company shall be convened on the
requisition of any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
and carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company, and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If
within 21 days of such deposit the Company fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Putting enquiries to the Board

To ensure effective communication between the Board and the Shareholders,
the Company has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy (the “Policy”)
whereby the Company’s information shall be communicated to Shareholders
mainly through general meetings, including annual general meetings, the
Company’s financial reports (annual, interim and quarterly reports), and its
corporate communications and other corporate publications on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company. Shareholders may at any time make
a request for the Company’s information to the extent that such information is
publicly available. Any such questions shall be first directed to the company
secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at 31/F,
Tower Two, Times Square, 1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The
company secretary shall forward enquiries and concerns received to the Board
and/or its committee to, where appropriate, answer the same.

Putting forward proposals at general meetings

The number of shareholders necessary for putting forward a proposal at a
general meeting shall be any number of shareholders representing not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings on the date of the request.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency is a key
to enhancing investor relations. It is committed to a policy of open and timely
disclosure of corporate information to its shareholders and investing public.
The Company updates its shareholders on its latest business developments
and financial performance through its annual, interim and quarterly reports. The
corporate website of the Company has provided an effective communication
platform to the public and the shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there had been no significant
changes in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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INTRODUCTION

This is the Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report prepared
by CircuTech International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) pursuant to the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide” (“ESG Guide”) as set out in Appendix
20 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The report describes the Company’s policies
in 2021 that were designed to fulfil the Company’s obligations with respect to
sustainable development and social responsibilities areas, as required by the
ESG Guide. The information in this ESG Report is derived from the Group’s
official documents and statistical data, as well as the integration and summary
of monitoring, management and operational information provided by major
subsidiaries of the Group.

The reporting period of this ESG report is from 1 January 2021 to 31 December
2021 (the “Reporting Period”). This report highlights significant environmental
and social impacts of our business activities in the sales and distribution
together with repairs and other service support of IT products, and video
surveillance systems.

Unless otherwise specified, the key performance index calculation of the
environmental aspect (except electricity usage) covers the Group’s operations
in Hong Kong. Quantitative disclosures in relation to our operations in Taiwan,
the Netherlands, the United States of America (the “USA”) and Australia are
excluded from this report due to either relatively small environmental footprint
or under establishment. While this report only covers significant partial
operations of the Group, and the Group aims to upgrade its internal data
collection procedures and gradually expand the scope of the disclosure in
future reports when appropriate.
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ENGAGEMENT WITH STAKEHOLDERS

Stakeholders’ expectation, view and feedback towards the Group is of ultimate
importance to its future development. The Group has therefore committed itself
to in-depth communication with both internal and external stakeholders and
presents our updated operational condition to them proactively through various
channels. We integrate their opinions with our daily operational decisions,
strive to balance the interests of the parties and satisfy the expectations
and demands of stakeholders. The table below shows a list of the Group’s
stakeholders.

&R BEFNE BRRE
Stakeholder Groups Specific Stakeholder Communication Channel
BEE . =] o AGIE N
Investors o Shareholders o Corporate website
. BELEE o FEMRPBHBRES
o Potential investors o Annual and interim financial report
o TERERAE
o Quarterly reports and announcements
o KRERBFRE
° Annual general meetings
. WELWER
° Disclosure of listed information
B& . BREERE o HiREB
Employees o Senior management o Direct communication
. BT o B EIENE R E %
o Staff o Independent focus groups and interviews
. BFiERT o Bl R E
o Electronics Craftsmen ° Training and seminars
. BIEEE o EHARIB (G
o Potential recruits ° Regular performance assessment
o rEHEEFEET
° CSR activities
=R . BX o = REHE
Customers ° Buyers o Customers assessment
. REAR o ERER
o Ultimate users o Designated customer hotline

. AR EE

° Social media
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ENGAGEMENT WITH STAKEHOLDERS (continuea)

BERE
Communication Channel

Mg, AEHE o MRH fE g J g AT
Suppliers/Contractors o Material suppliers o Suppliers assessment
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o Manufacturers o Quality review
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Community o National and local community o Charitable donations
organisations . SREED
o Volunteering activities
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Government o National and local governments o Written correspondence
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o Regulators o Statutory reports and general disclosures
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In order to gain a better understanding of the expectations, perceptions and
concerns of our stakeholders, we have engaged our management team and
employees in identifying the Group’s material ESG issues. With the identified
material ESG aspects, we strive to ensure proper measures on significant
issues are addressed adequately throughout our business activities.

ENVIRONMENT

Emissions

The Group is engaged in the businesses of design, marketing, repairs and other
service support of IT products. The operations of the Group by itself do not
have a significant impact on the environment as the process (manufacturing of
IT products) that do generate hazardous waste is outsourced to an authorised
dealer to handle with. However, the Group takes steps to closely monitor and
manage the environmental effect of all operations.

The Group aims to reduce energy consumption and carbon emissions and
operate in less harmful ways to the environment. The Group constantly
incorporates green principles into each project, for example, the environmental
harmfulness and the capacity of energy-saving of materials and equipment
used are considered during the selection of suppliers. Furthermore, at the
Group'’s offices, the indoor temperature and the running time of air-conditioning
system are preset to reduce energy consumption and carbon emissions. The
major type of energy consumption of the Group is electricity, which produced
indirect greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions resulting from the generation of
purchased electricity.
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IRiRw) ENVIRONMENT (continued)
B (& Emissions (continued)
R EREHK Indirect GHG emissions
B
(ZHEHREE ZEC—F PR G
Unit (COze) 2021 2020
AR EEE R (85152) Energy indirect emissions (Scope 2)
B R E RS HEK Indirect GHG emissions F5ekg 17,772.30 22,020.00
B BAEREIEREE Indirect GHG emissions intensity TR/ EE 433.47 719.32
kg/employees
H iRz HER (85853) Other indirect emissions (Scope 3)
ZEENIEEE ZER Paper waste disposed at landfills F5ekg 712.49 439.82
EENHEERZEREE Paper waste disposed at landfills intensity T3¢ & 17.38 14.19

ENREETHERFAERRSEROHKEERR
HREgE® AEEERELERNREAFEAI10%
ZHRER REHIMEEONRE > RARFNE
EHAEHERNHEETER ALV EHEEE
hRERMEIMEE ZFFRe

BRER

ERNAEENZEHLEE  2EERQAENERBFE
HEEREKELRSEFHEERBERKER A
REMAREBERAENEKENTEMEHEFTE
HEEE > WRFN RS HBEEKT B EE RN
B AEEREBRERIR A BRETRENIIF
SE - AERBBHNAE ZBEERMNBARQAE R
EREZENBETERAEZEERFARIRBERIA S
DREHIRIEARZE

THRHAMETELRRE > T TUER  EHR R
FEMARBARNEBRMA -HARRHEEETE &
EERBETRAEERBFXEANEEXF 1
DERERER RITEERX G RESHE XXM
ERRAEEITN LI RMUELERBETER
o LB B ERRIES BRI

kg/employees

Given the issue of climate change and our Group’s responsibilities to mitigate
the climate impact of our operations, the Group has set an emissions reduction
target of 10% of the Group’s emissions over five years compared with this year.
To tackle the challenge of global warming, we opted to lease electric vehicle
instead of petrol vehicle for transportation during the year to reduce emissions
from fuel consumption in our daily operations.

Use of Resources

Due to the Group’s business nature, the energy, power and water utilisation
of the Group’s offices do not rely heavily on energy consumption nor water
resources. Since our water consumption in the Hong Kong office is minimal
and managed by the building management, therefore we did not deal with
any issues in sourcing water during the Reporting Period. The Group is
committed to building an environmentally friendly working atmosphere that
conserves natural resources. The Group strives to minimise environmental
impact by saving electricity, encouraging recycling of office supplies and using
environmentally friendly equipment and tools in its operations.

The air-conditioning system is maintained at 25 degrees Celsius and also set
with a timer so that it will be automatically switched off during non-office hours.
For office consumables consumption management, the Group encourages
its employees to handle documents electronically. When the use of paper is
necessary, double-sided printing is suggested except the printing for formal
and confidential documents. In addition, we have installed a video-conference
system to reduce business travel and increase communication efficiency.
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Use of Resources (continued)

EEGERHFE Direct energy consumption
B —E-—F >
Unit 2021 2020
EEA Electricity usage TF R HFKWh 45,435.81 55,057.00
BHEREE Electricity usage intensity FRE B8 1,108.19 1,776.03
kWh/employee
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RERRXAER

FEEBRBERRFREE  BERMDOHIRBERRAE
RNEE AERGEREREREERER  RIUH
DMMERA-YMBEBARBIRBE BIBERMUEEARHE
E-RER EBEMAEE THEAMESH148.447F
o

AR BB TRBEEF XA e
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WaF ZBEILEREREMFERITN RS
WS R ERYAR -
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The Group also established a five-year target energy-use efficiency target of
reducing energy use by 10% based on financial year 2021 levels for electricity.
To achieve our energy-use efficiency target, the Group has adopted the
Reduce, Replace and Reuse approach, in line with national initiatives. Our
managerial staff will perform periodic reviews to monitor the progress.

During the Reporting Period, the Group consumed a minimal amount of
packaging materials for our trading products.

Environment and Natural Resources

The Group values environmentally friendly operations and minimises the impact
on the environment and natural resources. The Group sets out the environment
and resource management procedures and adopts the “Reduce, Reuse and
Recycle” policy to reduce paper consumption. During the year, a total of
148.44 kilograms of paper was used by our staff at Hong Kong office.

Reduce: encourages staff to read electronic files instead of printing out
documents or printing on both sides to create a paperless office.

Reuse: installs boxes next to printers and photocopying machines to collect
used single-sided papers, encourages employees to use these papers for draft
print out. Reuses paper boxes for storage purposes.

Recycle: used ink and toner cartridges of printers and photocopying machines
are collected for recycling. Other than saving paper measures, we also use
KHAN-NA paper, a unique model of sustainable fibre, which mitigates global
warming.

Due to the nature of our business, the Group does not directly generate
industrial pollutants and is not aware of any significant generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste. For the year ended 31 December 2021, the
Group is not aware of any material non-compliance issues in respect of any
applicable laws and regulations on environmental protection relating to air, GHG
emissions, discharges into water and land, generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
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RIREE Climate Change

R SRR BMAER

Focus Area Our Approach

EA EXEHE S8 E0AHEMAER BRRFEERMAVEERE IR B RIRE -
Governance Board oversight: The Board meets at least twice a year to oversee climate-related

strategies, policies, actions and disclosure.

EEENAG  EEBHHATRESCEmRIRABEE  HARKRES(CHERR
T o

Management’s role: The management supports climate action planning and internal
policy setting, as well as coordinating responses to climate-related risks.

SRER BERIES| - EEESART —NER TR HAMEFEERNEMNETREZ AR -1
EBRERED  MUREIILERE RMEFEEIRGsTEETE T mEMRS -
Strategy Policies and guidelines: The management meets monthly and discusses any potential

climate change risk to our business. Management will then brainstorm ideas to mitigate
these risks. The corresponding actions will be implemented and reviewed from time to time
to assess their effectiveness.

BRERR: ZMAGTERESEFERRIEBREE MRARKKK) VR - KEBRT
E(¥BHEBBERNRBEEE BB IRER B EEE -

Physical risks: We assess our IT products trading business for impacts related to
weather-related events such as storms and floods. The Group pays attention to the climate
change of relevant countries of the business and assist with implementing fast-response
measures.

BRI R R - B 5 E R A R A %2%%}3“IT§&EPL%?§WE REEITE R RMERET
MEMNEBRITERTSEA EEERETHERNEEREANRRREERERER
R o

Transition risks: Impacts related to market risk are assessed in our IT products. We
keep abreast of the latest market information for environmental-friendly IT products when
we select the IT products. Our management monitors the environmental performance of
suppliers by regularly reviewing their published environmental report.

EEEE AP EQESCEANRBAARERNRBERERRARAFTNEETNRE -HE
RERABEZMTMP AEBRKERLBERBECEMNELRERAR I EHBER
icagiElalElE

Risk Management Climate-related risks are incorporated into the Group’s risk management framework and

ESG materiality assessment by different stakeholders. The Group will monitor and follow
up on both transition and physical climate-related risks and update policies to respond
relevant risks.

EREBER ZREFNBEERERMEFEAR TG R E T8
Metrics and Targets Departmental contributions towards reduction targets are linked to yearly performance

evaluations and employee remuneration.
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SOCIAL

Employment

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable assets and
core competitive advantage of the Group. They also provide the driving
force for the continuous innovation of the Group. The Group rewards and
recognises performing staff by providing a competitive remuneration package
and implementing a sound performance appraisal system with appropriate
incentives. The Group also promotes career development and progression
by appropriate training and provides opportunities for career advancement.
Also, in order to provide a good and fair working environment and safeguard
the well-being of the employees, the Group seriously considers all valuable
opinions from employees for enhancing workplace productivity and harmony
which can help the Group to build a united and harmonious professional team.

The Group places high regard to the compliance of relevant laws and
regulations in the jurisdictions in which it operates, and the relevant
administrative rules and measures are strictly enforced. These rules and
regulations specify the requirements relating to employment, labour relations,
employees’ remuneration and welfare to protect the rights of employees.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group is not aware of any non-
compliance with the laws, regulations and policies relating to employment
and labour practices that have a significant impact on the Group. The Group
contributes to social insurances and mandatory provident funds in a timely
manner for all the staff.
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HtEgw SOCIAL (continueq)

BiE (& Employment (continued)

ATE—F+"A=+—H>  AEEGEEMA35%  As at 31 December 2021, the Group employed 35 full-time and 6 part-time
THETR6ARHE T - BTHAEAMINT : employees in total. The composition of staff are as follows:

BT Total workforce
g% —E2IEHF
2021 2020
A# A&
No. of People No. of People
¥R & 5 By Gender
B Male 30 25
ZM Female 11 6
¥ERERNR S By Age Group
185% 2305% 18 - 30 years old 2 5
3158 £405% 31 - 40 years old 12 5
4158 £508% 41 - 50 years old 15 11
5158 £605% 51 - 60 years old 5 4
60T LA £ Over 60 years old 7 6
IR & i 2 5 By Geographical Region
5E Hong Kong 31 21
= Taiwan 1 10
1o1 B The Netherlands 1 0
EH The USA 1 0
MR Singapore 2 0
BN Australia 4 0
H7 Japan 1 0
RESHENE S By Employee Category
BHREEAE Senior management 9 9
ZEET General 32 22
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BiE (& Employment (continued)
ESTEE Employee turnover rate
—E_—F BT

2021 2020
gk FlE b By Gender
B Male 3% 12%
peg s Female 0% 33%
BERERNS D By Age Group
185% 2305% 18 — 30 years old 50% 40%
315 E405% 31 - 40 years old 0% 40%
4155 E505% 41 - 50 years old 0% 25%
5158 E£605% 51 - 60 years old 0% 0%
60T A £ Over 60 years old 0% 0%
IR E i 8 By Geographical Region
5% Hong Kong 3% 14%
a4 Overseas 0% 20%
BESRZS Health and Safety

FEEEREBF LENESIGIEEBMAEHE
FRERZE2HEE HMANEETE2BTNEEBEM
$E509B M E w2 R R ERM) - 55282% & S E R F
FBRERKRIER

o HETE MM EwRMHIES IRSHETIES
FINZE2E# - NBE=F UHEES TR FRAARE
T HEETIRIGRERAIFRB-BE_T _—F
TIR=T—HLEFE AERT A NEBEERE
MREEZEEFNEIEMBAERELEEATE
AP

BRI

FEBRRETREERREHIZINE ERETE
BEmEI A TR AR EENRESR
E-HIIFERBEERMEN D AW © REBEIIK
SNERIEEN I REREREERENTERNE
BN G 2IE Bk m RG89 5 S FI 5t 8 o 5L A 3B
BIME > ARAREBNAEEHENEBRRERE
RS E WEREREH AEEEBAHEER
HETRASEEZINIRERBIEDZFETE

5o

The Group follows the guidelines from the Hong Kong's Labour Department
to set up the occupational health and safety measures of the Hong Kong
offices. Our operations fully comply with applicable laws and regulations such
as the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509), Employees’
Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282).

In addition, workshops and guidance are provided to staff to improve their
awareness of workplace safety. There were no work-related fatalities and
reported lost days due to work-related injuries for the past three years. For the
year ended 31 December 2021, the Group is not aware of any non-compliance
with the relevant health and safety laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group.

Development and Training

The Group provides training programmes for staff professional development
so that the employees are better equipped and increasing efficiency which is
favourable to the long-term development of the Group. Training programmes
are classified into two types based on target and purpose: internal training
and external training. For example, external training programmes related to
Dangerous Goods Regulations are also attended by our employees who need
to deal with those IT products that should be handled with care. Whereas
for internal training, the Company organises team building activities and
workshops regularly in the Hong Kong office in order to enhance team spirit.
The Group supports staff training programmes by offering employees to attend
training courses during working days and training sponsorship.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Development and Training (continued)

FINESEFTH L Percentage of employees trained
—E-—% —B-%&
2021 2020
¥R & 5 By Gender
B4 Male 73% 81%
pegcs Female 27% 19%
¥R & 5 By Category
BHREEAE Senior management 22% 29%
ZEET General 78% 71%
B ST F 1515 5 s & Average training hours completed
B TR
2021 2020
NEFE BFE
No. of Hours No. of Hours
4R & 5 By Gender
B Male 12.83 13.76
7% Female 18.55 24.00
HER 8 5 By Category
SHEEAE Senior management 7.33 5.56
BBET General 16.34 19.91

EREEED xEETAME T ZH ARSI 2
HERETHIMRE TET TEEE ILRAIERE
BEAMERREASHRE TN EIEAES] - BIERA
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& TR

FEESESEARASH RABBEB LB
S(EFEFEA) TH(ERRZERMN) R(EABTE (T
F) RO aB(FEIREZL); HHERZE); =EH
(RFHTIRERLD) ; BIM(2009F R FIIEE) 5
MR ES ) s RASR(HHEREZL) > BEN A
WITBRERET RBHFT - AEELREEE
BZRRERERESTIEREGH

In daily operations, the Group also provides induction training for new
employees. Experienced employees will act as mentors to guide the
newcomers on jobs. Such arrangements may enhance the effectiveness of
communication and improve the technical skills and managerial capability of
employees at all levels. The Group also updates the latest information of the
industry and laws and regulations which are essential to the Group’s operation
and their job responsibilities from time to time.

Labour Standards

The Group highly respects human rights and freedom. We strictly prohibit the
use of child and forced labour in our workplace by adhering to the Employment
of Children Regulations and Employment of Young Persons (Industry)
Regulations under the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57), Laws of Hong Kong;
Labour Standards Act of Taiwan; the Employment Law of the Netherlands; the
Fair Labour Standards Act of the USA; the Fair Work Act 2009 of Australia;
the Employment Act of Singapore; and the Labour Standards Act of Japan.
The Group enters into employment contracts with each of its employees in
accordance with relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Labour Standards (continued)

Comprehensive recruitment procedures are required to be performed to check
and verify the age of a job applicant before the Group hires him/her. The
procedures require a job applicant to present their valid proof of identity to
ensure that they have reached the legal working age. Important details such
as job duties, locations and working hours of the staff are also set out clearly
in the employment contract to protect their rights and interests and forced
labour is strictly prohibited. Applicant who is suspected to have false academic
qualifications and working experience will not be employed. The Group
provides its staff with a safe, healthy, comfortable working environment with
labour protection, reasonable remuneration and various welfare.

Supply Chain Management

The Group values the partnership with suppliers and works together to promote
sustainable development of the industry. The Group has been continuously
optimising and improving the supplier management system, regulating the
access, supervision, evaluation and departure of suppliers, and constantly
increasing specialisation and transparency of supply chain management.
The evaluation of a supplier mainly includes background, qualification (for
example, holding necessary licenses to provide such services), quality control
of service, financial status, past performance in similar service, fulfiiment of
the contract, professionalism of project team, operation in good integrity and
social responsibility. Whether the supplier is qualified is determined based on
the evaluation results, and those suppliers who fail to meet the requirements
will ultimately be disqualified. The Group values communication with suppliers,
including continuous communication with suppliers in routine work and
establishing strategic cooperation with suppliers through technical support
and unique competitive advantage that can achieve a win-win situation and
strengthen the cooperation with each other.

The Group maintained a total of 44 suppliers (2020:26). The suppliers
categorised by geographical region are as follows:

Number of suppliers by geographical region

—E-—% —E-Tx

2021 2020

Australia B 6 0
Hong Kong 58 18 7
Taiwan =% 10 8
The Netherlands o1 6 2 2
The Republic of China == E| 4 6
The USA E3E - 8
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SOCIAL (continued)

Supply Chain Management (continued)

Specifically, we maintain approved lists of suppliers, and procurement of
goods or services is only made from these suppliers. The Group’s suppliers
are selected based on the following factors: environmental compliance of
products supplied; quality of materials; and any background issues concerning
potential conflict of interest in supplying goods to the Group. Environmental
and social risks along the supplier chain are incorporated into the Group’s risk
management framework by management. The Group will monitor and follow
up on both environmental and social risks and set up appropriate measures to
mitigate relevant risks.

Product Responsibility

The Group aims to achieve the highest possible standard with all the services
provided. The Group has established relevant policies which cover service
quality guarantee, safety, fair advertising and after-sale services in order to
ensure that relevant measures comply with the laws and regulations.

The Group pays close attention to the quality and safety of its products
and services. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not receive any
complaints or requests to terminate the relationship due to poor quality and
safety. If a complaint should arise, the Group will immediately assess the
complaint and conduct an internal investigation into the matter to identify
the source of the issue. The Group has a close connection with customers.
If customers are not satisfied with the quality and safety of the services,
the Group will arrange sufficient channels and staff to support customers’
communication and provide solutions as soon as possible.

The routine work of the Group always involves the intellectual property rights
of customers, suppliers and the Group, therefore protection of intellectual
property rights is extremely important. The Group adds protective clauses
to the contracts entered into with customers and suppliers to safeguard
intellectual property rights. The Group also reviews every operational contract
to ensure that the contract safeguards the intellectual property rights of the
parties. Furthermore, the Group also requests technical specialists to sign
confidentiality agreements. The Group also complies with relevant data privacy
legislation. All confidential data of customers can only be accessed by the staff
who are responsible for the projects for relevant clients.

With respect to fair advertising, the Group requires the employees of the
sales department to provide customers with accurate and true information on
the Group’s products and services. Hotline and e-mail are also available for
customers’ enquiries on service details in order to provide better before and
after-sale services.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group was not aware of any cases
of non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a significant impact on

the Group in relation to health and safety, advertising, labelling, and privac :
matters related to products and services provided. ﬁ
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SOCIAL (continued)

Anti-corruption

We believe in fairness and honesty in business dealing and we do not
tolerate corruption, bribery, money laundering and other fraudulent activities
in connection with any of our business operations. The Group strictly adhere
to relevant regulations and laws, such as the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
(Cap. 201), the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing
Ordinance (Cap. 615), Laws of Hong Kong.

The Group requires employees to strictly conform to the code of business
ethics as stipulated in the employment contracts. Cases of conflict of interest
must be reported to the Group’s management. Employees who engage in
business operations and represent the Company’s professional image are
strictly prohibited from using business opportunities for personal interest or
benefit. Service contracts in different amounts are required to be examined and
approved by different levels of management.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group was not aware of any cases
of non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Group in relation to bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering.

The Group has adopted a whistle-blowing policy to encourage and enable
employees to raise serious concerns within the Group. The policy allows
employees to raise genuine concerns about possible improprieties in financial
reporting, compliance, and other malpractice, at the earliest opportunity and in
an appropriate way, without fear of reprisal.

Community Investment and Involvement

The Group always seeks to be a positive force in the communities in which it
operates and maintains close ties with the communities in order to contribute
to local development.

The Group believes that the creation of a beautiful and peaceful community
depends on the cooperation of people, corporations and society as a whole.
By working together with various community partners, the Group believes
that it may bring a tremendous impact on the sustainable development of the
communities in which it operates.

The Group will also actively encourage staff to devote their time and skills to
benefit local communities. It gives employees the opportunities to find out more
about the issues of society and reinforce the Group’s corporate values.

During the Reporting Period, the Group put our focus on community investment
and involvement in youth development and donated Euro5,000 for a Private
Dining Fundraising Event in 2021. This organisation collects depreciated IT
products from other companies and then donates cash of the same value to
charities that commit themselves to bring opportunities for children who have
no access to sports due to financial or physical challenges.
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To the Shareholders of
CircuTech International Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CircuTech
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 62 to 155, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the “Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter

Valuation of derivative financial instrument in relation to the
associate

Refer to Notes 3.3, 4(c) and 17 to the consolidated financial statements

On 19 July 2018, the Group acquired 21% equity interest of 4Square
Return GmbH ("4Square”) and the Group was entitled to a call option
to acquire the remaining equity interest of 4Square in 2023 and a buy-
back option that entitled the other shareholders of 4Square to buy-back
21% equity interest in 4Square from the Group if the Group does not
exercise the call option within three months after call option expires (the
“Acquisition”).

The total cost of the investment in 4Square was HK$14,508,000. In return,
the Group is entitled to 21% of equity interest in 4Square and a call option
and buy-back option at the date of the acquisition.

The Group recognised the investment in 4Square as an associate
amounted to HK$6,569,000 and the call option and buy-back option at
a fair value of HK$7,939,000 as derivative financial instruments in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the date of acquisition.

Management performed the assessment of the fair value of the call option
and buy-back option at year end based on an independent valuation report
prepared by an external valuer.

We identified this matter as a key audit matter because of the significance
management judgement used in the fair value of the options at year end
including the revenue growth rate of the associate and the discount rate.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Valuation of derivative financial instrument in relation to the
associate (continued)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
Our response:

Our procedures in relation to valuation of derivative financial instruments for the
associate.

- We read the sale and purchase agreement of the Acquisition to
understand the details of the transaction, including the consideration, the
conditions of completion, the rights and obligations of the Group.

- We checked the terms of the call option and buy-back option in relation
to the investment in the associate to the relevant supporting documents,
including the sale and purchase agreement and shareholder agreement.

- We evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
independent external valuer.

- We assessed the appropriateness of the valuation methodology and the
underlying assumptions adopted by management in determining the fair
value of the call option and buy-back option with the involvement of our
in house valuation expert.

- We evaluated the key assumptions used based on our understanding

of the business of the associate and by comparing the market available
data.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Company’s annual report, but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibility in this regard.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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(continued)

MEEFEENSTED RMABTWESIEH AL From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
EMBEBRERNEBARAER AMEMBMBEESSE  matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
HoRMAEZBEMBSPIBMBLEFIE [RIEAEL  statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
BAAT A AREEELESTE JAEMBBEERMNIBEN  We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
TR EEBEERAERMARETDEBEEESHME  precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
HERBBEENARME  HAREFREERSES  circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
BBz B report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

EBIUEERGHMEBAERAR BDO Limited

HEEZ5ED Certified Public Accountants

BHiEs Pak Tak Lun

HEEFEZHEI P06170 Practising Certificate number: P06170
58 2 ”F=BA="+—H Hong Kong, 21 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BE+-A=+—HL=EE
For the year ended
31 December

—s--%& —s-%%
2021 2020
ok FET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
A Revenue o) 349,870 372,959
THE R AR Cost of sales 7 (324,322) (342,055)
EF Gross profit 25,548 30,904
Hing A Other income 6 3,259 5,018
tHE KA Selling and distribution costs 7 (9,171) (6,397)
THER Administrative expenses 7 (14,870) (17,612)
MERERSZEH Research and development expenditures 7 (1,370) (1,628)
ERAEEEARZ EG Share of net profit of an associate accounted for
—EEE AT AR using the equity method 12 673 726
B 75 B AR Finance costs 10 (63) (46)
bR 1S 1R A i ) Profit before income tax 4,006 10,965
PR = Income tax expenses 13 (1,774) (1,968)
EEEF Profit for the year 2,232 8,997
REEHMEEUE - Other comprehensive income for the year:
HEOEEN7EFZEmZIEH Item that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss
MBI EBEEZERESE Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations (1,471) 2,591
BT EEN S EEEm 2B Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
FBHEMEEmKREATE Changes in the fair value of equity investments at
IEZRGEEZ AFEE fair value through other comprehensive income (6) (54)
(1,477) 2,537
rEEEHEUELEEE Total comprehensive income for the year 755 11,534
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BE+-A=+—HLEE
For the year ended
31 December

—E-—% =E—Tx
2021 2020
bt FET FET
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
HTWATEGRFERF : Profit for the year attributable to:
- WACIEZZ= DN - Owners of the Company 2,232 8,997
—JEEREm - Non-controlling interests - -
2,232 8,997
BT ATEGEREE Total comprehensive income for the year
S EUWEAREE - attributable to:
—RRBEE A — Owners of the Company 755 11,512
—FE R - Non-controlling interests - 22
755 11,534
AABEEANEHEREF] Earnings per share attributable to owners of
(F AL the Company (HK cents per share)
—BARKREE - Basic and diluted 14 9.52 38.39

Hiifr a2 E RS RGN T REE

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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W+ZB=+—H
As at 31 December
B —ZTTTHF
2021 2020
ok FET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BE Assets
ERBEE Non-current assets
ME--BERZE Property, plant and equipment 15(a) 1,268 3,643
FREEE Right-of-use assets 15(b) 690 1,055
R—EHBE B Z# Interest in an associate 12 7,537 7,378
TEERIA Derivative financial instrument 17 9,972 9,917
ZEREMEEWRDRATE Financial asset at fair value through
TEZERMEE other comprehensive income 18 1,451 1,457
20,918 23,450
RENEE Current assets
78 Inventories 20 55,525 32,256
FEE LAY Bl R e L A R WRR Trade and other receivables 19 17,461 2,647
ZREIIBITER Restricted bank deposits 32 31,194 31,220
RERIREEHEEY Cash and cash equivalents 21 98,850 104,695
_________________________ 203,030 170,818
HEE Total assets 223,948 194,268
@ Equity
&N Share capital 22 4,687 4,687
HihEE Other reserves 23 196,538 198,015
KEtE1E Accumulated losses 24 (55,219) (57,451)
Mt Total equity 146,006 145,251

64 MEBEBZERARALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited



REMBRRER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

®W+ZB=+—8H
As at 31 December
—E—% —E2IEF
2021 2020
k=3 FET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
=i Liabilities
RENBEE Current liabilities
JFE 1< BR =R Ko EL At FE T =% Trade and other payables 26 73,003 46,142
HES®E Lease liabilities 27 545 721
aHEE Contract liabilities 1,426 24
FEfSIRIB Tax payables 2,790 1,754
77,764 48,641
WEERTEEE Total assets less current liabilities 146,184 145,627
JEREEE Non-current liabilities
HES®E Lease liabilities 27 178 376
weE Total liabilities 77,942 49,017
EmkaBEERE Total equity and liabilities 223,948 194,268

EitimRE MBI R AN REE

FEE2EIE Y R BREKEFTEN T -
ATt BRERERETE TR TINEEARE

EEHEZ-

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in

The consolidated financial statements on pages 62 to 155 were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 March 2022 and were
signed on its behalf.

HIRFREE
Mr. Hong Sung-Tai
EE

Director

BERRE
Mr. Han Chun-Wei
EBF

Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
HE_Z - —EF+°A=+—BHLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

BAAFERAES
Attributable to owners of the Company
B Hitfk s 2R By FERER st
Non-
Share Other Accumulated controlling
capital reserves losses Total interests Total
(Hyzt22) (Hiz#23) (Wyzto4)
(Note 22) (Note 23) (Note 24)
FET FET FET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
“ZZ-T£-F-A At 1 January 2020 4,687 195,621 (66,448 133,860 (495) 133,365
KEERF Profit for the year = = 8,997 8,997 = 8,997
HEtzmla Other comprehensive income
BERNEBEL  BERER Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations - 2,569 - 2,569 22 2,591
FREMEZARREATE Change in the fair value of equity
FlEZERRBEZATEEE investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income - (54) - (54) - (54)
EENGEEE Total comprehensive income - 2,515 8,997 11,512 22 11,534
FEE-RRBAR Deregistration of a subsidiary - (121) = (121) 473 352
RZIZZEE+"A=1+—-HEK At 31 December 2020 and
“¥”_-%5-F—H 1 January 2021 4,687 198,015 (57,451) 145,251 - 145,251
KEERR Profit for the year = = 2,232 2,232 = 2,232
HEtzmla Other comprehensive income
BERNEBEL  BERER Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations - (1,471) - (1,471) - (1,471)
EREMEZARREATE Change in the fair value of equity
FlEZERRBEZ ATEEE investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income - (6) - (6) - (6)
EEKELE Total comprehensive income - (1,477) 2,232 755 = 755
RZEZ-f+ZB=+—-H At 31 December 2021 4,687 196,538 (55,219) 146,006 = 146,006

Eilitr SR B R A BB MY I S — G RIRE o

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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BE+-HA=+—HLEE
For the year ended
31 December

—E-—% =E—Tx
2021 2020
ok FET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
REEBZHERE Cash flows from operating activities
R (FrR) BEEZRE Cash (used in)/generated from operations 30 (3,592) 42,793
BUlH 8 Interest received 39 378
ENFTEiR Income taxes paid (480) (568)
R FrR) EEZ Net cash (used in)/generated from
__i,_%_\%_,?ﬁﬁ_ _________ operating activities (4,033) 42,603
KREEBZZRERE Cash flows from investing activities
ME-BERZHBNLR Payments for property, plant and equipment (48) (222)
HEME -BEREZEZ Proceeds from sale of property, plant and
Frig 18 equipment 55 -
REEBEE FTA) 2 Net cash generated from/(used in)
__L_%_ﬁ_i%%ﬁ_ _______ investing activities 7 (222)
MEEBEZHERE Cash flows from financing activities
EEHEaEZEAEEHY Repayment of principal portion of
the lease liabilities 31 (889) (1,068)
EEREaGZHNEIY Repayment of interest portion of
the lease liabilities 31 (63) (46)
%E_‘%%ﬁ‘%f}iﬁﬁ_z_fﬁ_%_%_gﬁ_ ______ Net cash used in financing activities (952) (1,114)
HeRIBEEEY GRL) Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
EANFRE cash equivalents (4,978) 41,267
REYZRERIBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 104,695 63,021
EXEHHIBE RIREEEY) 2 Effects on exchange rates changes on cash and
- cash equivalents (867) 407
REXRZRERIBETEEY Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 21 98,850 104,695
PR EREREREEBENNE—HRE The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction 'ﬁ

with the accompanying notes.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

CircuTech International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) is principally engaged in the sales
and distribution of IT products, and the provision of repairs and other
service support of IT products.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company has its primary listing on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted
in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated. These consolidated financial statements are for the
Group consisting of CircuTech International Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries.

2.1 Basis of preparation
(i) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to
as the “HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In
addition, these consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

MEBEBZERARALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(i)

Statement of compliance (continued)

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets
(including derivative instruments and financial asset at fair
value through other comprehensive income) measured at fair
value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are
disclosed in Note 4.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

(a)

Amended standards as adopted by the Group

The HKICPA has issued a number of amended HKFRSs that

are first effective for the current accounting period of the

Group:

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions

Amendments to HKFRS
39, HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform -
Phase 2

The adoption of the above amendments did not have any
significant impact on the Group’s results and financial
position for the current or prior periods. The Group has not
early applied any new or amended HKFRSs that is not yet
effective for the current accounting period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective

The following new or amended HKFRSs, potentially relevant
to the Group’s financial statements, have been issued, but
are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by
the Group. The Group’s current intention is to apply these
changes on the date they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 2021 (amendments)?

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and HK Interpretation 5 (2020),
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause®

Amendments to HKAS 16, Proceeds before Intended Use'

Amendments to HKAS 37,
Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract'
HKFRS 17, Insurance Contracts®

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to
the Conceptual Framework'’

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2,
Disclosure of Accounting Policies®

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of Accounting Estimates®

Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction?®

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture*

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020'"

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2022.

2 Accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021. Earlier
adoption is permitted.

s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
20283.

o No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for

early adoption.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(b)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 2021

The 2021 Amendment to HKFRS 16 extends the availability
of the practical expedient in paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 so
that it applies to rent concessions for which any reduction
in lease payments affects only payments originally due on
or before 30 June 2022, provided the other conditions for
applying the practical expedient are met.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments in the future will have an
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and HK Interpretation 5 (2020),
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current is based on rights that are in existence
at the end of the reporting period, specify that classification
is unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement of a liability and explain
that rights are in existence if covenants are complied with
at the end of the reporting period. The amendments also
introduce a definition of ‘settlement’ to make clear that
settlement refers to the transfer to the counterparty of cash,
equity instruments, other assets or services.

HK Int 5 (2020) was revised as a consequence of the
Amendments to HKAS 1 issued in August 2020. The revision
to HK Int 5 (2020) updates the wordings in the interpretation
to align with the Amendments to HKAS 1 with no change in
conclusion and do not change the existing requirements.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments and revision in the future will
have an impact on the financial statements.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(b)

HEEEEERAERAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16, Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of an item
of property, plant and equipment any proceeds from selling
items produced while bringing that asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management. Instead, the proceeds
from selling such items, and the cost of producing those
items, is recognised in profit or loss.

The directors of the Company is currently assessing the
impact that the application of the amendments will have on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a
contract comprises the ‘costs that relate directly to the
contract’. Costs that relate directly to a contract can either
be incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g. direct
labour and materials) or an allocation of other costs that
relate directly to fulfilling contracts (e.g. the allocation of
the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and
equipment used in fulfilling the contract). General and
administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract and
are excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the
counterparty under the contract.

The directors of the Company is currently assessing the
impact that the application of the amendments will have on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(b)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 17, Insurance Contracts

The new standard establishes the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of
insurance contracts and supersedes HKFRS 4, Insurance
Contracts. The standard outlines a ‘General Model’, which
is modified for insurance contracts with direct participation
features, described as the ‘Variable Fee Approach’. The
General Model is simplified if certain criteria are met by
measuring the liability for remaining coverage using the
Premium Allocation Approach.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of this standard in the future will have an impact
on the financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

The amendments update HKFRS 3 so that it refers to the
revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018
instead of the version issued in 2010. The amendments
add to HKFRS 3 a requirement that, for obligations within
the scope of HKAS 37, an acquirer applies HKAS 37
to determine whether at the acquisition date a present
obligation exists as a result of past events. For a levy that
would be within the scope of HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, the
acquirer applies HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 to determine whether the
obligating event that gives rise to a liability to pay the levy
has occurred by the acquisition date. The amendments also
add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise
contingent assets acquired in a business combination.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments in the future will have an
impact on the financial statements.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(b)

HEEEEERAERAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2,
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The amendments to Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting
policy information rather than their significant accounting
policies. Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in an
entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that their primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how
to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments in the future will have an
impact on the financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments clarify the distinction between changes in
accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts
in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how entities use
measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting
estimates.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments in the future will have an
impact on the financial statements.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(b)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exception so that it does not apply to transactions that give
rise to equal and offsetting temporary differences. Therefore,
entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset and
a deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising from
these transactions.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments in the future will have an
impact on the financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify with situations where there is a
sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. When the transaction with an
associate or joint venture that is accounted for using the
equity method, any gains or losses resulting from the loss
of control of a subsidiary that does not contain a business
are recognised in the profit or loss only to the extent of
the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint
venture. Similarly, any gains or losses resulting from the
remeasurement of retained interest in any former subsidiary
(that has become an associate or a joint venture) to fair value
are recognised in the profit or loss only to the extent of the
unrelated investors’ interests in the new associate or joint
venture.

The directors of the Company is currently assessing the

impact that the application of these amendments will have on
the financial statements.
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HEEEEERAERAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

o HKFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, which permit a subsidiary that
applies paragraph D16(a) of HKFRS 1 to measure
cumulative translation differences using the amounts
reported by its parent, based on the parent’s date of
transition to HKFRSs.

o HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which clarify the fees
included in the ‘10 per cent’ test in paragraph B3.3.6
of HKFRS 9 in assessing whether to derecognise
a financial liability, explaining that only fees paid or
received between the entity and the lender, including
fees paid or received by either the entity or the lender
on other’s behalf are included.

o HKFRS 16, Leases, which amend lllustrative Example
13 to remove the illustration of reimbursement of
leasehold improvements by the lessor in order to
resolve any potential confusion regarding the treatment
of lease incentives that might arise because of how
lease incentives are illustrated in that example.

o HKAS 41, Agriculture, which remove the requirement
to exclude taxation cash flows when measuring the
fair value of a biological asset using a present value
technique.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments in the future will have an
impact on the financial statements.
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POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Principles of consolidation

2.3.1 Subsidiaries

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the
activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes
in equity and statement of financial position respectively.

2.3.2 Associate

Associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence but not control or joint control. This is generally
the case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of
the voting rights. Investment in an associate is accounted
for using the equity method of accounting (see Note 2.3.3
below), after initially being recognised at cost.

2.3.3 Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investment
is initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s
share of movements in other comprehensive income of the
investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends received
or receivable from an associate are recognised as a reduction
in the carrying amount of the investment.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3

2.4

2.5

Principles of consolidation (continued)

2.3.3 Equity method (continued)

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other
entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest
in these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity accounted
investees have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments
is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in Note 2.9.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in
the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the Executive Directors who make
strategic decisions.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the consolidated financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK$, which is the
Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are generally
recognised in profit or loss. They are deferred in equity if
they are attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign
operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings
are presented in profit or loss, within “finance costs”. All
other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in
profit or loss on a net basis within “administrative expenses”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value was determined. Translation
differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities
such as derivative financial instruments are recognised
in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets such as
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”) are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6

2.7

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that statement of financial position;

(ii) income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign entities are
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences
are reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on
sale.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as
a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the reporting
period in which they are incurred.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7

2.8

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of their residual
values, over their estimated useful lives or, in the case of leasehold
improvements, the shorter lease term as follows:

Leasehold improvements 3 to 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Office equipment 3 to 5 years
Machinery 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

(a) Capitalised development costs
Development costs that are directly attributable to the design
and testing of identifiable and unique IT products controlled
by the Group are recognised as intangible assets when the

following criteria are met:

o it is technically feasible to complete the software so
that it will be available for use;

o management intends to complete the software and use
or sell it;

o there is an ability to use or sell the software;

o it can be demonstrated how the software will generate

probable future economic benefits;
o adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development and to use or sell the

software are available; and

° the expenditure attributable to the software during its
development can be reliably measured.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8

2.9

Intangible assets (continued)

(a) Capitalised development costs (continued)

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the
capitalised development cost include employee costs and an
appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible
assets and amortised from the point at which the asset is
ready for use.

(b) Research and development

Research expenditure and development expenditure that
do not meet the criteria in (a) above are recognised as
an expense as incurred. Development costs previously
recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in
a subsequent period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from
other assets or groups of assets (“cash-generating units”). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets

2.10.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair value
through profit or loss (see 2.12),

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value
through OCI, and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms
of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will be
recorded in OCI. For investments in equity instruments that
are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the
Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.

2.10.2 Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.

2.10.3 Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at
FVOCI at its fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.
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2.10 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

2.10.3 Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and the
cash flow characteristics of the asset. The Group classifies
its debt instruments as follows:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets
is included in finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other
gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line
item in the statement of profit or loss.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investment at
fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected to
present fair value gains and losses on equity investment in
OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains
and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of
the investment. Dividends from such investments continue
to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the
Group’s right to receive payments is established. Impairment
losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investment measured at FVOCI are not reported separately
from other changes in fair value.

2.10.4 Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried
at amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see Note 3.1(b) for further details.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10

2.11

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

2.10.4 Impairment (continued)

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative
and qualitative information analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly if it is more than 90 days past
due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when
the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse by the Group to action such
as realising security (if any is held); or the financial asset is
more than 120 days past due.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the statement of financial position where the Group
currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must
be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event
of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group companies or the
counterparty.

Derivatives

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that does not
qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13

2.14

2.15

2.16

Inventories

Raw materials and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost comprises cost of purchase, cost
of conversion and other costs incurred to bringing the inventories
to their present location and condition. Costs are assigned to
individual items of inventory on the basis of first-in first-out
(“FIFO”). Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold
or services performed in the ordinary course of business. Trade
receivables are generally due for settlement ranging from 15 to 45
days and therefore are all classified as current.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment of trade receivables.
See Note 2.10 for further information about the Group’s accounting
for trade receivables and for a description of the Group’s
impairment policies.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held
at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less that
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank
overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current
liabilities in the statement of financial position.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares

or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.17

Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided
to the Group prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid.
The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days
of recognition. Trade and other payables are presented as current
liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months after the
reporting period. They are recognised initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable
on the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period in the countries where the
Company’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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2.18 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the
Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to
offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary
benefits and accumulating sick leave that are expected
to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the
period in which the employees render the related service
are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to
the end of the reporting period and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
The liabilities are presented as current employee benefit
obligations in the statement of financial position.

Pension obligations

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which
the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to
pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in
the current and prior periods.

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions
to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans
on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group
has no further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent
that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is
available.

Bonus plan

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses
based on a formula that takes into consideration the profit
attributable to the Company’s shareholders after certain
adjustments. The Group recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that
has created a constructive obligation.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Employee benefits (continued)

(d)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement
date, or when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy
in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises
termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates:
(a) when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits; and (b) when the Group recognises costs
for a restructuring that is within the scope of HKAS 37 and
involves the payment of termination benefits. In the case
of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on the number of
employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due
more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period
are discounted to present value.

2.20 Share-based payments

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via
the “2016 Option Scheme”. Information relating to this scheme is
set out in Note 25.

Employee options

The fair value of options granted under the 2016 Option Scheme is
recognised as an employee benefits expense with a corresponding

increase in equity. The total amount to be expensed is determined

by reference to the fair value of the options granted:

HEEEEERAERAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

including any market performance conditions (e.g. the
entity’s share price)

excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (e.g. profitability, sales
growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity over
a specified time period), and

including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (e.g. the
requirement for employees to save or holdings shares for a
specific period of time).
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Share-based payments (continued)

2.21

Employee options (continued)

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is
the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are
to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the entity revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based
on the non-market vesting and service conditions. It recognises the
impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss,
with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

Social security contributions payable in connection with an option
grant are considered an integral part of the grant itself and the
charges are treated as cash-settled transactions.

When the options are exercised, appropriate amount of shares
are transferred to the employee. The proceeds received net of any
directly attributable transaction costs are credited directly to equity.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation
and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate
used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the
passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Revenue recognition

(a)

(b)
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Sale and distribution of IT products

Revenue from the sales and distribution of products is
recognised at a point in time when control of the products
has transferred, being at the point the products are delivered
to and have been accepted, and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of
the products. There is only one performance obligation.
Delivery occurs when the products have been shipped to the
specified location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have
been transferred to the customer, and either the customer
has accepted the products in accordance with the sales
contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the
Group has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance
have been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price
specified in the contract, net of discounts, returns and value
added taxes.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
and the customers have accepted the products, as this is the
point in time that the consideration is unconditional because
only the passage of time is required before the payment is
due.

Rendering of repairs and service support

The Group provides repair, maintenance and support
services for IT products. The Group has determined that
for contracts with customers under services support, there
is only one performance obligation. For the provision of
services, revenue is recognised over time in the accounting
period in which the services are rendered to customers as
the Group determined that the customer receives and uses
the benefits simultaneously.

For the provision of repair services, revenue is recognised
at a point in time in the accounting period in which the
repair services are rendered to its customers as the Group
determined that the Group has control on the repairing
items during the repairing process and the customers do not
receive any benefit until the services are rendered.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23

2.24

2.25

Contract liabilities

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group obtains
right to receive consideration from the customer and assumes
performance obligations to transfer goods or provide services to
the customer. The combination of those rights and performance
obligations give rise to a net asset or a net liability depending on
the relationship between the remaining rights and the performance
obligations. Contract liabilities are recognised for services to be
provided to customers represented by the excess of consideration
received from the customers according to agreed customer billing
schedules over cumulative revenue recognised.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the principal
outstanding at the applicable interest rate.

Leases
Accounting as a lessee

All leases are required to be capitalised in the statement of financial
position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, but accounting
policy choices exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i)
leases which are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for which
the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has elected not
to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-value
assets and leases for which at the commencement date have a
lease term less than 12 months. The lease payments associated
with those leases have been expensed on straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost and would
comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability (see below for the accounting policy to account for
lease liability); (i) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received; (iii) any
initial direct costs incurred by the lessee and (iv) an estimate of
costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing
the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories. The Group measures the right-of-use assets applying
a cost model. Under the cost model, the Group measures the
right-to-use at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liability.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.25 Leases (continued)

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at the date of commencement of the
lease. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the Group's
incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use on the underlying asset
during the lease term that are not paid at the commencement
date of the lease are considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed
payments less any lease incentives receivable; (ii) variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured
using the index or rate as at commencement date; (i) amounts
expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value
guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee
is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and (v) payments of
penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group measures the
lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the
lease payments made; and (i) remeasuring the carrying amount
to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications, or to reflect
revised in-substance fixed lease payments.

Accounting as a lessor

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the leased assets to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on the straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.25 Leases (continued)

2.26

Accounting as a lessor (continued)

Any changes in the scope of the consideration for a lease that
was not part of the original terms and conditions of the lease are
accounted for as lease modifications. The Group accounts for a
modification to an operating lease as a new lease from the effective

date of the modification, recognising the remaining lease payments

as income on a either a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the remaining lease term.

Earnings per share

(i)

(i)

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any
costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in
ordinary shares issued during the year and excluding treasury
shares.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the
determination of basic earnings per share to take into
account:

. the after income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares, and

o the weighted average number of additional ordinary

shares that would have been outstanding assuming the
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.27 Related parties

(a)

96 HEEEEERAERAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:

U]

(i)

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

U]

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the group or to the group’s parent.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.27 Related parties (continued)

(o)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply: (continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and
include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(if) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

(i)  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

This note explains the Group’s exposure to financial risks and how these
risks could affect the Group’s future financial performance. Current
year profit and loss information has been included where relevant to
add further context. The Group’s risk management is carried out by a
central treasury department (“Group Treasury”) under policies approved
by the board of directors. Group Treasury identifies, evaluates and
mitigates financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating
units. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

3.1 Financial risk factors
(a) Market risk
) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities
denominated in a currency that is not a functional
currency of the relevant group entities. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy and has not used any forward contracts,
currency borrowings or other means to hedge its
foreign currency exposure. The @Group manages
its foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the
movement of the foreign currency rates.
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1A
3 HERBER @ 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 HBRAKAR & 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) WHHEE (& (a) Market risk (continued)

() SEREEE () () Foreign exchange risk (continued)
AEBRBREPRZINER The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the
fE O AT AT - end of the reporting period, expressed in HK$, was as

follows:
£ BX 7T HiE
uUs$ EUR GBP
FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
W2 —% As at 31 December 2021
+=ZHA=+—H
BE Assets
& LAY AR R TR L 1 FE WK Trade and other receivables 1,032 - -
ZIREIIRITER Restricted bank deposits 31,194 - =
BERIREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 36,417 220 168
afE Liabilities
FEAT BR T B L FE (S 7R Trade and other payables (165) - -
ET EXoT HE
uUs$ EUR GBP
FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
MRIEZZHF As at 31 December 2020
+=ZB=+—H
BE Assets
FEE ST B R R L At B LU RR Trade and other receivables 330 14 50
ZIRBIERITEMR Restricted bank deposits 31,220 = =
RERREEEBY Cash and cash equivalents 46,423 111 204
=R Liabilities
FET BR A R E At FE S =R Trade and other payables (619) = =
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(a)

Market risk (continued)

()

Foreign exchange risk (continued)
Sensitivity

The Group is primarily exposed to changes in EUR/
HK$ exchange rates. The sensitivity of post-tax profit
or loss to changes in the exchange rates arises mainly
from EUR-HK$ denominated financial instruments.

gtk 3 —EIEH
2021 2020

HK®E HiNgE
SNE HELEZIES SNEE HEEZIE/
EEEE (B) w2 ERE =7
Positive/ Positive/
(negative) (negative)
Change effect on Change effect on
in foreign post-tax in foreign post-tax
exchange profit exchange profit
rate or loss rate or loss
FET FET FET FET

HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD'000

BiT,/ BTER— EF+  EUR/HKS exchange rate -

increase

BiT,/ BTER—T#  EUR/HKS$ exchange rate -

decrease

4% 187 7% 7

(4%) (187) (7%) (7)

sy > RZEZ—F+Z8
=+—B > AEETHHIN
BERABREIESIREEBBTR
BTN B MEREBEETRE
FENIGRARBERZERE
B ¥ &570,0008 7T (ZEZ
TE BT AT E87,00008
7T) °

BB T B S o 8 o d b
ERERESMTFEME S
BE o

In addition, as at 31 December 2021, the Group was
exposed to foreign exchange risk primarily with respect
to the potential negative effects of HK$570,000
(2020: potential negative effects of HK$987,000) on
consolidated post-tax profit or loss due to the potential
impacts from translation of intercompany balances
which are translated from HK$ to EUR.

The HK$ is pegged to US$ and thus foreign currency.
exposure is considered as minimal and is not hedged.
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MHBRBRER (&) 3.1
(a) FHEE (& (a)
() SHERSE (B
BRE (4

EEERD ARBREHE
RETHE ZESTEH
FEBZRXFERAERE
wmA (B5B) REMERS
DEMEARTE AL I
MAREREERBITEY]
FRE D -

(i)  HEREFFRELRE

REREMNXEAKRERSR
TEAMZARETRER
AHGHNEEH LR RHZ
B BRRIRIBITERZH
BUWASG RERZ WA K
KERENEEELFED
BREEEIEE - RIS
R BRI A Z IRITEMRIN
FEBUBERFEREEK
=Rk

(b) EEmEE (b)

AEEEEZ(EE R REBURIRR
R EAMEER - ZRFIBITERR
RehFEcFEBYWEEREEMN
A o 8 U BR R e L At FE W R~ R BR
FIRTTEMRRERFEEEYZ
REEEAEEFMEERASHEE
HEAZERKREERR-

AEEBHRTERRTHEEFHE
BzEXREERR RESZER
REAERNEERFEEREER
PRz PR AR EHIRTT o

HEEEEERAERAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Market risk (continued)
(i) Foreign exchange risk (continued)
Sensitivity (continued)

Management believes that the appreciation/
depreciation of RMB and GBP against HK$ would not
have a material impact on the Group’s profit/(loss) after
income tax and other components of equity for the
year. Therefore, no sensitivity analysis is presented for
RMB and GBP against HKS.

(i) Cash flow interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future
cash flows associated with a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
The Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates, except for interest income derived from bank
deposits. Apart from the bank deposits held at financial
institutions, the Group has no significant interest
bearing assets and liabilities.

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets at trade and other receivables, restricted bank
deposits and cash and cash equivalents. The carrying
amounts of trade and other receivables, restricted bank
deposits and cash and cash equivalents, represent the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
financial assets.

The Group expects that there is no significant credit risk
associated with cash deposits at banks since they are
substantially deposited at medium or large-sized listed banks
with good reputation and credit rating.
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BETEEDTIREXZEEER
BRIFHAEEHEENBAREESE
B-HEEZRAROERAERZ
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T I B2.9%K27.7%) c ERIBE
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected credit loss provision
for impairment of all trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics. The Group has
performed historical analysis and identified the key economic
variables impacting credit risk and expected credit loss. It
considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding-
looking information.

Majority of the Group’s revenue is received from individual
customers in relation to IT products sold and are transacted
in cash or credit. The Group’s trade receivables arise from
sales of IT products to the customers.

As at 31 December 2021, the top three debtors and the
largest debtor accounted for approximately 95% and 85%
(2020: 62.9% and 27.7%), of the Group’s trade receivables
balance. In view of the history of business dealings with the
debtors and the sound collection history of the receivables
due from them, management believes that there is no
material credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding
receivable balance due from these debtors saved for the
debtor related to the impaired trade receivable disclosed in
the below. Management makes periodic assessment on the
provision for impairment of the trade and other receivables
based on background and reputation of the customers,
historical payment records, past experience, the length
of overdue period, the financial strength of the debtors
and whether there are any disputes with the debtors. The
directors consider that the Group’s expected loss rate to be
low and no provision for impairment of trade receivables was
made as of 31 December 2021 and 2020.

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others,
the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with
the Group, and a failure to make contractual payments for a
period of greater than 120 days past due.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group has assessed
that the expected loss rate for other receivables was
immaterial. Thus no loss allowance for other receivables was
recognised.

Annual Report 2021 g 101




REMBRRIMEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

102

HERBEIRw

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

BT R ERERGRE AEETES
AN TRENRKRERE  BRERE

BEARFTHMRNHEEELUREER-

HEEEEERAERAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

3.1 HBRAKER (&) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(c) FEEZREE (c) Liquidity risk
AEBESEFEREBEERAKRAT The Group aims to finance its operations with its own capital
BEREBESRINERILMENFT and earnings and did not have any significant borrowings
MEREARNEERE  EETT or credit facilities being utilised during the year, except
HEmZHEREEEERN (sF for a standby line of credit issued to a vendor (Note 32).
32) KREBRBEAG 2 EER The Group maintains its own treasury function to monitor
EEEHMAMEBER RERRBES the current and expected liquidity requirements and aims
ERUSEBBEEEEELX R to maintain flexibility by keeping sufficient cash and cash
ERERREEEWHEFTEE - equivalents generated from operations. At the end of the
RBERFR AEBRHNFERSE reporting period, the Group held cash and cash equivalents
EREEBYNUKREKRER B and trade receivables, respectively, that are expected to
AIMEERBESARNELR readily generate cash inflows for managing liquidity risk.
EIMA e
TRBEFEEEBERHBES The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial
AR AEHNF R B AEREIEST liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the
SEMAaRsAAMEERARET remaining period at the consolidated balance sheet date to
DRI BEERED AR the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the
BESAE - AREREETRE table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances
KoR12EEREBZERERHE due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the
ARTEAG BR © impact of discounting is not significant.
—E-—% —E-Tx
2021 2020
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
—FR Less than 1 year
JFE 1< BR =R R ELA FE 1S =R Trade and other payables 69,618 44,090
HEas Lease liabilities 545 721
3.2 EBXER 3.2 Capital management
KREEBSEERAZENS | — The Group's objectives when managing capital are to:—
J REEFELSERE T USHES . safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, so that
[ IR ERIR M EIR N AR D EREF they can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
o benefits for other stakeholders; and
. HERFREBARBLURLDE XK . maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
7K o capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Capital management (continued)

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable
to owners of the Company only, comprising share capital and
reserves.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital
on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net
debt divided by total equity. Net debt is calculated as total debts
(including trade and other payables as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position). The Group has a target gearing
ratio at a very low level.

—E-—% —B-%&
2021 2020
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
BIETS Total debts 77,942 49,017
B Total equity 146,006 145,251
53.4% 33.7%
AFEHE 3.3 Fair value estimation
(a) ZHEE (a) Financial assets

() A FEER

AR EEN GRS HR
RABATERIKRGEZ
T/ T A2 AT ERPREF
ik st - RRHEERF
EFfFRBABEBNAEEE
ER FERREBE S ER
RESHIADRA=ZE &
B #h 2 SR T RFAR

) Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and estimates
made in determining the fair values of the financial
instruments that are recognised and measured at
fair value in the consolidated financial statements. To
provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs
used in determining fair value, the Group has classified
its financial instruments into the three levels prescribed
under the accounting standards. An explanation of
each level follows underneath the table.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

3.3 AF{EME & 3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(a) ETHEE (& (a) Financial assets (continued)
(0 QT EER (B () Fair value hierarchy (continued)

KEMERATES

T2 Recurring fair value measurements

Recurring fair value )= HoE H3E e
CEMATENE measurements Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Tota
k=3 FET FET FET FET
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZEZ—% At 31 December 2021
+ZA=+-H
EREE Financial assets
TESRMIA Derivative financial instrument 17 - - 9,972 9,972
ZREMEAKRRE Financial asset at FVOCI
NTEEIEZEREE 18 - - 1,451 1,451
RZIEZZE At 31 December 2020
+ZA=+-H
EREE Financial assets
TESRIA Derivative financial instrument 17 - - 9,917 9,917
ZEREMEZARRRE Financial asset at FVOCI
NFEIEZEHEE 18 - - 1,457 1,457

RAERE EHE AT @

B2%1 283
o

REBBRRBNREHHRE
RATERBHRHNEARE N

HEE-

$B1E :

Level 1:

$o8E .

Level 2:

$B3E !

Level 3:

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 for
B2 REiEs

recurring fair value measurements during the year.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end
of the reporting period.

HERMS MARBENETERRSZHS) EENERMIANAFERRSHANTISHRE
TR - AEEFENEREEMANDEREAEREBB -ZEITAINARTIE-

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives, and trading securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid
price. These instruments are included in level 1.

WIERIER™MIE WIBHNTAETER) BEENESMITEN A FTERAGERNEE  ZEHERMNE
EFRAHERMSHEMR MRBERNSEGs Mt ETAATEMELMERRAMEY
RO ERYE > IZT A AS2SE -

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-
the-counter derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques which maximise the use of
observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

M—IEAZEEARBAMBLIIFRBEIERTSHBEEL IZT AR AFIE - LHRAE
5 BN LB 5 o

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is
included in level 3. This is the case for unlisted equity securities.

MEBEBZERARALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3

Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

(i)  EENFEATAEER (i) Valuation techniques used to determine fair values
EEATEPMBHmERTA The valuation technique used to determine fair value is
MRS MED W - RIEM discounted cash flow analysis. Based on the financial
BEERTER FHARREIR budgets and forecast, the determination of fair value
EREBANEEATFERE use post-tax cash flow projections covering a five-year
B -BREAFHRBEZ period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are
RBEMETHERKEEXE extrapolated using terminal growth rate.

Bo
(i)  EHEAXT O] BEEGA EIF (i) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable
(B3E) 2R FEHE inputs (level 3)
ERBEE
Financial assets
EBHEMEZE
KR AFE
TTEERMTIAE JIEZERMEE
Derivative Financial
financial asset at
instrument FVOCI
FET FAET
HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZE—h%F Balance at 31 December 2019
+ZB=+—HZz4%&E 8,247 1,511
NEEED Change in fair value 1,045 (54)
PE 2 = %8 Exchange difference 625 =
N _BIEF Balance at 31 December 2020
+-B=+—HZ#&&&% 9,917 1,457
NEEEH Change in fair value 494 (6)
b A= 5H Exchange difference (439) =
N_E - —5F Balance at 31 December 2021
+ZB=+—HZ%&8 9,972 1,451

EBEMEERZRATE
SIEZERMEERITEESR
TEZRAFETRBEBEIRER
EREBERTUHREHAY
B (BEBAERERRE RS
BRMRK)EE-

The fair value of the financial asset at FVOCI and
derivative financial instruments were determined based
on discounted cash flow with unobservable inputs
including revenue growth rates and risk adjusted
discount rate.
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3 HMHBRAMREREw 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 AF{EMG @) 3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(a) EHEE (&) (a) Financial assets (continued)
(iv) 1HEEBABIRR AN TFEZ (iv)  Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value
17
R+ZA=+t-H2 BAYE
B AFfE FORRBARE (BE=miE) &R FORRRABRANTEZHG  HEE
Fair value at Unobservable Range of inputs Relationship of
Description 31 December inputs (probability-weighted) ~ unobservable inputs to fair value  Sensitivity
ZEI-F CEIZf ZZI-F CZIZfF
2021 2020 2021 2020
FET FE7
HK$'000  HK$000
BER-EREN TR 2% 9,972 9017 EEWAREE 2-10% 510% HEERARREGRHRL Eftﬂf EWM@EYH}/ [&1E) 1.5%
E Annual revenue growth rate NERBEARERE AATERE WATEREEN/ () £318,000
Derivative financial instrument B HEEUALRERERRAY /ﬁm/ 662 000/%75) (Z52%%:
in relation to the interest in an %Kiﬂ HERRZ LA ﬁ"&?fﬁ 2,568,007,/ (2,063,000 7)) °
associate a=pe N Increase/(decrease) in annual
If annual revenue growth rate or revenue growth rate by 1.5% will
terminal growth rate increases, or risk- increase/(decrease) the fair value
adjusted discount rate decreases, the by approximately HK$318,000/
fair value would increase; if annual (HK$662,000) (2020: HK$2,568,000/
revenue growth rate decreases or (HK$2,063,000)).
terminal growth rate or risk-adjusted
REERE 2% 2% discount rate increases, the far value &S mEimEKiﬂ/ 1% 8
Terminal growth rate would decrease. ’/}-T- Egem/ (b Z7600 000
%ru/ 8000/&75) (CB22E:
3,669,000?%75/ 3,064,000%7%)) o
Increase/(decrease) in terminal growth
rate by 1% will increase/(decrease)
the fair value by approximately
HK$600,000/(HK$618,000) (2020:
HK$3,669,000/(HK$3,064,000)).
AREZERE 1230%  12.97% RRBRARE L7/ (K1) 05% A
Risk-adjusted discount rate Q}HEH-@(W‘)/@DD”J( 1,721,000
#7t) /1,889,000 (ZF= TE
(1,983 000%7%) /2,170, 0007) «
Increase/(decrease) in risk-adjusted
discount rate by 0.5% will (decrease)/
increase the fair value by approximately
(HK$1,721,000)/HK$1,889,000 (2020:
(HK$1,983,000)/HK$2,170,000).
106 HEEEEERAERAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 AFEME @) 3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(a) ZTHEE (&) (a) Financial assets (continued)
(iv) 1 EEA ZI5E R 42 FEZ (iv)  Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value
% (#8) (continued)
‘ RtzA=+-82 BALE
Bt AFE FOBREARE (H=mie) 8E FOBRRABRANTEZHE  HEE
Fair value at Unobservable Range of inputs Relationship of
Description 31 December inputs (probability-weighted) ~ unobservable inputs to fair value Sensitivity
Z8C-f 2°%R ZBI-5 CE1%F
2021 2020 2021 2020
FET FEx
HK$'000  HK$000
FLbkRAEs 1,451 1457 FEMARRE 5-10% 510% MWEEMALRERRS mé’*i%’ EERARRE LH/ (H1E) 1.5%>
Unlisted equity security Annual revenue growth rate ﬁéﬂ BEZEEZEE ATESE AATESEY m/ ﬂ"‘ 57333 000
m; HEERALREGRK e %m/ 17,00087%) CE-FF:
ﬁéf&;@ﬁtﬁﬁé}a%ﬁﬁiﬁziwﬂﬁ 273,000;375/ (236,00070))
BEEbo Increase/(decrease) in annual
If annual revenue growth rate or revenue growth rate by 1.5% will
terminal growth rate increases, or risk- increase/(decrease) the fair value
adjusted discount rate decreases, the by approximately HK$333,000/
fair value would increase; if annual (HK$317,000) (2020: HK$273,000/
revenue growth rate or terminal growth  (HK$236,000)).
, rate decreases, or risk-adjusted
REERE 4% 4% discount rate increases, the fair value H# mﬁﬁﬁirﬂ/ Pe1E) 1% 8
Terminal growth rate would decrease. AFEHERY,/ (1) 687,087
/ (75, 000%7) (2% 105,000
%7/ (66,00087)) °
Increase/(decrease) in terminal growth
rate by 1% will increase/(decrease) the
fair value by approximately HK$87,000/
(HK$75,000) (2020: HK$105,000/
(HK$66,000)).
BRELHRE 17.5% 17.0% BARBLEBE L7/ (4 05%’
Risk-adjusted discount rate E‘ QFTE #e (d)) /8m# (61,000
%7) /66,0087 (= f M
(50,00070) /81,0007 °
Increase/(decrease) in risk-adjusted
discount rate by 0.5% will (decrease)/
increase the fair value by approximately
(HK$61,000)/HK$66,000 (2020:
(HK$50,000)/HK$81,000).
=3 Notes:
(i) TTE@@E@A%@F‘ZF&EE (i) There were no significant inter-relationship between
EHAFTEBREAY unobservable that materially affect fair value.
gﬁz%ﬁ:*ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%o
(ii) HE R EAA FﬁZEFi’-] (ii) The average revenue growth rate covering the five-year

WA REERT.2%

-_=

TTE7.2%) o

forecast period was 7.2% (2020: 7.2%).
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REZHE o

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

(v)

HEEEEERAERAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

Valuation processes

The finance department of the Group performs
valuations of non-property items required for financial
reporting purposes, including level 3 fair values. They
report directly to the management. Discussions of
valuation processes and results are held at each
interim and annual reporting date.

The main level 3 inputs used by the Group are derived
and evaluated as follows:

. Discount rates for financial asset is determined
using a capital asset pricing model to calculate
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risk specific to the asset.

o Risk adjustments specific to the counterparties
(including assumptions about credit default rates)
are derived from credit risk gradings determined
by the Group’s internal credit risk management
group.

o Annual revenue growth rate and terminal growth
rate for unlisted equity securities are estimated
based on market information for similar types of
companies.

Changes in level 3 fair values are analysed at the end
of each reporting period during the half-yearly valuation
discussion between the management and the finance
department. As part of this discussion, the finance
department presents a report that explains the reason
for the fair value movements.



REMBRRE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4  FEEMEFRFIER

mEMBREACB GG REBEER ZE
B ELVENRERGR -BEETRHEAER
& F3 & 5t BSR4 i o

A EEFETE - AENERNELKR K
HEMRAZ SBFEVEHTERSHYBEER

E@E%ﬁ |ﬁ /R—FE/L\,\/\

(a)

(b)

BREZRREMZ MG

EERE

ﬁ EM&$£T“E%E%%ZFE
BT B
fWE’Whﬁ &$Wﬂi?”ﬁ@
TE HzEFEELRER 28AHBH
RENEETE BFE W$T%H£W
Bl fRifEEEZEAEEM AEFE
BTN o] SRS A U E] e MURI =48 i =~ & 28
WmEEZREEATSRFEZER E
RETF & 1) 5 UR [0l B 28 1F BB K i o O 1E
LTI B By - A ET L (R EiE) B
BEELDNREREZ FHREE-

ME-BERRFBEZGHATEREH R
BREEREE

FEEETEME -BERRFE 2GS
ERFEH MFEEREMTEER G
SRR CIE B RINE 2 BB K
REBEZERERAFHZBEARFL-
WA ERFRORNBREMGTZFH K&
EREmEEIENTEER BREEF
MR EHAES I ERFERER  MEKRR
HREETEHEGHRREERR THE
%YﬁﬁﬁTﬁEZE%&ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ

e AR ZTERZTERAM
HIREE -

CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting
estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal the actual results.
Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s
accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are based

on historical experience and other factors,

including expectations of

future events that may have a financial impact on the Group and that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a)

(b)

Impairment of inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
The cost of inventories is written down to net realisable value when
there is an objective evidence that the cost of inventories may not
be recoverable. The cost of inventories may not be recoverable
if those inventories are aged and damaged, if they have become
wholly or partially obsolete, or if their selling prices have declined.
The cost of inventories may also not be recoverable if the
estimated costs to be incurred to make the sales have increased.
The amount written off to profit or loss is the difference between
the carrying value and net realisable value of the inventories. In
determining whether the inventories can be recoverable, significant
judgement is required. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent by all
means to which the amount will be recovered.

Estimated useful lives, residual value and impairment of
property, plant and equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual values
and related depreciation charges for its property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience of
the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment of similar
nature and functions. The Group will increase the depreciation
charge prospectively where useful lives are less than previously
estimated lives. Actual economic lives may differ from estimated
useful lives; actual residual values may differ from estimated
residual values. Periodic review could result in a change in
depreciable lives and residual values and therefore depreciation
expense in the future periods.
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(b)

(c)

(d)
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4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Estimated useful lives, residual value and impairment of
property, plant and equipment (continued)

The Group is required to evaluate at each reporting date whether
there is any indication that the carrying values of property, plant
and equipment may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the
Group should estimate the recoverable amount of the property,
plant and equipment. An impairment loss is recognised for the
excess of the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment
over their recoverable amounts. The recoverable amount is
determined at the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. The value in use is the present value of the cash
flows expected to arise from the continuing use of property, plant
and equipment and cash arising from its disposal at the end of its
useful life.

Estimation of fair value of financial assets at FVOCI and
derivative financial instruments

The fair values of financial instrument that are not traded in an
active market is determined using valuation techniques. The
Group uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and
make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions
existing at the end of each reporting period. For details of the
key assumptions used and the impact of changes to these
assumptions see Note 3.3(a).

Income taxes

Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are transactions and calculations during the
ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax treatment
is subject to judgement. If the Group considers it is probable that
these judgements will result in different tax positions, the most
likely amounts of the outcome will be estimated and adjustments
to the income tax expense and income tax liabilities will be made
accordingly.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain deductible temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when management
considers it is likely that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary differences or tax losses can be
utilised. When the expectations are different from the original
estimates, such differences will impact the recognition of deferred
income tax assets and income tax charges in the period in which
such estimates have been changed.
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4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

(e)

Impairment of interest in an associate

Interest in an associate is reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. The recoverable amounts have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations or fair value less
costs to sell. These calculations require the use of judgements and
estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of asset impairment
particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has occurred that
may indicate that the related asset values may not be recoverable;
(i) whether the carrying value of asset can be supported by its
recoverable amount, being the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and the net present value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset in the business; and (iii)
the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash
flow projections including whether these cash flow projections are
discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions
selected by management in assessing impairment, including the
discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present value used in the
impairment test and as a result affect the Group’s reported financial
condition and results of operations. If there is a significant adverse
change in the projected performance and resulting future cash flow
projections, it may be necessary to take an impairment charge to
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

KEBZWALERUWT - The Group derives the following types of revenue:

—E-—f —EoTf

2021 2020

FET FAET

HK$°000 HK$ 000

& Ko 81 TE G Sales and distribution of IT products 345,129 372,643

HERREXZIE Repairs and service support 4,741 316

TN Total revenue 349,870 372,959
AEBTEREHERDBEITERULRRHEIT The Group is principally engaged in the sales and distribution of IT

ERmZEEREMREESE -

products, and the provision of repairs and other service support of IT
products.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

The chief operating decision-makers have been identified as the
executive directors of the Company (the “Executive Directors”). The
Executive Directors have determined the operating segments based
on the information reviewed by them that are used to make strategic
decisions.

The Executive Directors examine the Group’s performance from a
product perspective, and have identified two reportable segments of the
Group’s business:

(i) Sales and distribution of IT products: this part of business designs,
manufactures and markets video surveillance systems and
distributes third party IT products; and

(ii) Repairs and service support: repairs, maintenance and other
service support for electronic products are provided under this part
of business.

No operating segments have been aggregated in arriving at the
reportable segments of the Group.

No sales between segments are carried out during the years ended
31 December 2021 and 2020. The revenue from external parties
is measured in the same way as in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Interest income from bank deposits, interest on lease liabilities and
corporate expenses are not allocated to segments, as these types of
activities are driven by the central treasury function, which manages the
cash position of the Group.
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5 WARSHEEN @ 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
HE_Z - F+A=+T—HLEFERRZ The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December
Hz2EERWT 2021 is as follows:
HER HIER
DEEITE SR PR %5 2 & et
Sales and Repairs
distribution of and service
IT products support Total
FET FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
KB FE ZWA Revenue from external customers 345,129 4,741 349,870
BN S Time of revenue recognition
—RE—RREEL — At a point in time 345,129 4,344 349,473
—R—EEE - Over time - 397 397
DEBEA Segment profit 5,311 1,994 7,305
IRITEIRFIE WA Interest income from bank deposits 39
MEMXZ Interest expenses (63)
e s TEREMER Salaries, wages and other benefits (2,175)
APBEERBERZ HEL) Unallocated corporate expenses (Note) (1,773)
KR F Operating profit 3,333
EREEEARZ Share of net profit of an associate
e — R B & A B AL R accounted for using the equity
method 673
FRPETISMATRF] Profit before income tax 4,006
FRiEMMBEX Income tax expenses (1,774)
KEE = Profit for the year 2,232
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5 WARSEEN @ 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

BE_ZE_—F+__A=+—HLEFERNZ
BzREERNT @ (&

The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December
2021 is as follows: (continued)

HE_Z-—H+"F=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

HER HER
DETER IR & E i e
Sales and  Repairs and
distribution of service
IT products support  Unallocated Total
FET F#ET F#ET F#ET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
ME- -BERREITE Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 42 - 2,339 2,381
FCREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets - - 882 882
FEEE Provision for inventories 370 - - 370
WisES Write-off of inventories 2 - - 2
MRKREREZH Research and development
expenditures 1,370 - - 1,370
REFERBEE Additions to non-current assets 35 13 542 590
HER HER
DEITE R R#E & “act
Sales and Repairs
distribution of and service
IT products support Total
FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
AERSEEE Reportable segment assets 72,078 2,278 74,356
R—REEEA ARz Interest in an associate 7,537
TEEMIA Derivative financial instrument 9,972
SIREIRITER Restricted bank deposits 31,194
HERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 98,850
APERBEE Unallocated corporate assets 2,039
EEMBERIRAZEEE Total assets per consolidated statement
of financial position 223,948
AE2RSHEEE Reportable segment liabilities 72,687 721 73,408
(TR 1B Tax payables 2,790
FoEErB&R Unallocated corporate liabilities 1,744
LEMBRRRAZEEE Total liabilities per consolidated
statement of financial position 77,942
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BE-_S-SH+-A=-+—HLEERRE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December

Hz2EERWT 2020 is as follows:
HER HIER
DEEITE R AR#5 52 1% st
Sales and Repairs
distribution of and service
IT products support Total
FET FAET FAET
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
KB FE ZWA Revenue from external customers 372,643 316 372,959
BN S Time of revenue recognition
—RE—RREEL — At a point in time 372,643 21 372,664
—R—EEE - Over time - 295 295
7 A Segment profit 14,455 60 14,515
IRITEIRFIE WA Interest income from bank deposits 378
MERZ Interest expenses (46)
e TEREMEH Salaries, wages and other benefits (2,630)
KXPEATEZ (Hat) Unallocated corporate expenses (Note) (1,978)
KE RN Operating profit 10,239
EREEEARZ Share of net profit of an associate
e — B & A B AL R accounted for using the equity
method 726
FRET SR AT & Profit before income tax 10,965
FRiEMMBEX Income tax expenses (1,968)
AREEEF Profit for the year 8,997

Annual Report 2021 F R

115



REMBRRIMEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 WARSEEN @ 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

BE_Z_ZF+_A=+—HLEFERNZ
BzREERNT @ (&

The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December
2020 is as follows: (continued)

BE_Z_ZF+_B=+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2020

HER HER
DEHITE & R#% & E vl Wt
Sales and Repairs
distribution of and service
IT products support Unallocated Total
FET FET FET FAET
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ME- BB KR EITE Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 23 - 2,357 2,380
FRESENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets = = 1,073 1,073
BEERE Net provision for inventories 1,478 = = 1,478
MHES Write-off of inventories 133 = = 133
MERERET W Research and development
expenditures 1,628 - - 1,628
REFRDEE Additions to non-current assets 155 67 1,394 1,616
HER Fii 2 Y
DEEITE R AR 2 1% 45t
Sales and Repairs
distribution of and service
IT products support Total
FAET FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’ 000
AERDEEE Reportable segment assets 34,060 = 34,060
R—EBE T 2 #EE Interest in an associate 7,378
TEEMIA Derivative financial instrument 9,917
ZIRHBIRITER Restricted bank deposits 31,220
HehkREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 104,695
ROERBEE Unallocated corporate assets 6,998
SEMBRAIRAZEBEE Total assets per consolidated statement
of financial position 194,268
AE2RSEARE Reportable segment liabilities 43,795 = 43,795
(TR 1B Tax payables 1,754
RAPERBEE Unallocated corporate liabilities 3,468
REMBRRRAZEEE Total liabilities per consolidated
statement of financial position 49,017

Miat : RABLRABRAXE—RABMAZ MATAE

Note: Unallocated corporate expenses represent general corporate expenses

Fre R EMARDE —RRTHHAS

such as executive salaries and other unallocated general and administrative
expenses.
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5 WARSHEEN @ 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
AEBRFERIEEZ THEREUNEFRBRBERS The Group's business activities are conducted predominantly with
EH e TRIAEAEERFRMNES D ZKE customers in North America, Asia and Europe. The amount of its revenue
IEERAZBMACREREAEEEREEME from external customers broken down by location of the Group’s
BEREDZIERBEE customers and non-current assets based on countries where the Group’s

entities operate is shown in the table below.

FENEBERZEA FERBEE
Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets
—E-—F —BIRg ZEZ—F ZEIEF
2021 2020 2021 2020
FET FAET FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
ESE] United States 110,621 113,753 4 12
&5 Hong Kong 106,073 146,107 1,518 4,566
=h Taiwan 73,216 16,551 39 85
G| Netherlands 52,542 94,118 356 35
Hi Others 7,418 2,430 41 -
349,870 372,959 1,958 4,698
LTINS EEENEAREBRAAWABI0% TS The following external customers individually contribute over 10% of the
RRIEE R DHEITERDEE . Group's total revenue and are attributable to the sales and distribution of

IT products segment:

—T-—fF ST

2021 2020

FET FAET

HK$’000 HK$'000

ERA Customer A 73,273 .

ZFEB Customer B 64,193 75,978

EEC Customer C 41,221 74,386

ZFAD Customer D & 43,251
* FEF AL R EFEKAMI10%Z A © * Representing revenue contributed less than 10% of the total revenue of the

Group during the year.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
(a) Contract liabilities

The Group has recognised the following liabilities related to
contracts with customers:

T —F —EIEF
2021 2020
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BREERDHTERZANER Contract liabilities related to sales and
distribution of IT products 1,426 24

BNERERHAATERARANERRA
ERWRENEMNRE- R 2 —F k=
ETEE+"R=+—H AHEREE
BERERESARRUBE TERRE 5]
EREBEMRIE e B ERRAS]
AR BERES —FRNEES/UEA -

(b) MENEBREBIBZBA

Contract liabilities represent advance payments received from
customers for goods that have not yet been delivered to the
customers. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the contract
liabilities mainly included the advance payments received from
individual customers for sales of IT products after the end of
respective reporting period. The contract liabilities are expected to
be recognised as revenue within one year from date of inception of
respective contracts.

(b) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities

B —ETEH
2021 2020
FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
W—B—B 28 Balance as at 1 January 24 26
RFEERDBEVGFAGHNEEZ Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of
WABHREHNEaBERD recognising revenue during the year that
was included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year (24) (26)
WEFBNRIEER A8 EIEMN Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
advance payments received 1,426 24
R+ZB=+—BZ#&e Balance as at 31 December 1,426 24
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—EZ—% —E2IEF

2021 2020

FET FAET

HK$’000 HK$'000

LW A Rental income 2,400 2,400
TEEMI A 2 FERKRR Fair value gain on derivative financial instrument 494 1,045
B AT fR B (A 5E) Government subsidy (Note) - 1,029
IRITERFE WA Interest income from bank deposits 39 378
Hi Others 326 166
3,259 5,018

Mt RBEE_T-_—F+"H=+—HILFE I
EEEARITHEBFHE ZHENEES
THMRME BRI BERESSE (CEE
£ 1 1,029,00087) R _E-_—FR_E-F

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2021, no government funding support
(2020: HK$1,029,000) was received from the Employment Support Scheme
under the Anti-epidemic Fund launched by the Hong Kong SAR Government.
The Group does not have unfulfilled obligation related to this subsidy as at 31

F+ZRA=+—H AERUEAMZMEZ

HARBITEE-

X% (%EEE2)

December 2021 and 2020.

7 EXPENSES BY NATURE

T —fF g5
2021 2020
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
1% B4 BN Bl <& Auditors’ remuneration
— B IR - Audit services 650 600
—IEBE R - Non-audit services 100 100
FTEFEMRA Cost of inventories sold 322,343 339,734
WEER (Hat15) Depreciation charge (Note 15)
—NE - BERRE - Property, plant and equipment 2,381 2,380
—fFREEEESA - Right-of-use-assets included within:
—MHE Lt RIEF - Leasehold land and buildings 706 949
—"[E - Motor vehicles 176 124
BEBHBZ (BIEFEEEME) (B528) Employee benefit expenses,
including directors’ emoluments (Note 8) 13,408 13,719
R ERX Short-term lease expenses 386 287
WSS 2~ R R ok Written off of property, plant and equipment - 1%
HEWME BERRKREZ KRR Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (10) -
ER (&) I8 FEE Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss (639) 478
R—REBEA B 2w 2 RERE Impairment loss on interest in an associate 164 628
FEEEEG (B AMEERA) Net provision for inventories
(Ht&£20) (included in cost of sales) (Note 20) 370 1,478
WEEFEE (Ha20) Write-off of inventories (Note 20) 2 133
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EERMFAX (BEEFEME)

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

B TEITE

2021 2020

FET FAET

HK$’000 HK$'000

e TEREMER Salaries, wages and other benefits 12,650 13,019
BRE—-FRERETE Pensions - defined contribution plans 758 700
13,408 13,719

(a)

MEBERZERERAR

AEBRRE(EB ARG M QRSB F
P AREBFITHEREZEESH
At AR E (MBRREE) ~ 8
BMEFEFARABUREAEEREHR
BINSTRIZ - RFBIETETE EERHE
EEXEASHAZESHEMBRAZE%H
1,600 7T (UERIEE B %) @5t Bt

AEERBRNEEZWNBABRERES
Superannuation Fundmi& > ZE%AH
BUZTEANBEZ REMIBRAKEE oK
%./,\&1EE/‘.JHQ7\Z1O%T/EH5|T& ) M
BETHREZET LR

FEBRTERBEEZWBRARESR
%Mlﬁﬁk%ﬁ}ﬁﬁigléiﬁ FE 7% R B
BEZREHRBKGE - REBARE
EMBMBRAZEEBT D LFHER BAR
BITREZET LR - B TRAKEHE
BOLIRMT

BTERNRE 6%
Z TRk 8%
BERIREE 1 4.9%

(a)

Pensions - defined contribution plans

The Group participates in the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong SAR. The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent trustees.
Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the scheme at the lower of 5% of
the employees’ relevant income or HK$1,500 each month.

Employees of the subsidiary of the Group operating in Australia
are members of the Superannuation Fund, which is a defined
contribution retirement plan operated by independent trustees. The
Group is required to make contributions calculated as 10% of the
employees’ gross income, subject to certain ceilings imposed.

The employee of the subsidiary of the Group operating in Republic
of China is a member of the labour pension system, which is a
defined contribution retirement plan operated by the government.
The Group is required to make contributions calculated as a
prescribed percentage of the employee’s relevant income, subject
to certain ceilings imposed. The applicable percentages for the
labour pension system are listed below:

Labour pension: 6%
Labour insurance: 8%
Health insurance: 4.9%

CircuTech International Holdings Limited



REMBRRE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8

EERMAX (BEEFEMN=)

(&

(a)

(b)

BAE-FEMME (&

FEBRBNEEREBZEEAEARNK
2k (MAARKZHE) (FHER - A EH
REEBWAZI16%MZEBKREZHF
HfRR e

FEBARTHZEZEENZ(EER
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ToBE U AATEE BEAL
MBI Oz WER R AFE > AL
SECSE R ATZMENT

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING
D|RECTORS, EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Pensions - defined contribution plans (continued)

The Group contributes Individual Retirement Arrangement (the
“IRA”) for the employee employed in the United States. The Group
made contributions calculated as 16% of the employee’s gross
income to the pension arrangement.

The Group contributes a pension fund governed by the Pensions
Law for the employee employed under the jurisdiction of
Netherlands. The pension fund is a defined contribution retirement
plan operated by independent trustees. The Group made
contributions calculated as approximately 8.1% of the employee’s
gross income to the pension scheme.

No forfeited contributions were utilised during the year (2020: Nil).

No contributions were payable to the pension fund at the year-end
(2020: Nil).

Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
none of them (2020: None) was director of the Company whose
emoluments are included in the disclosure in Note 9 for the year
ended 31 December 2021. The emoluments of the five (2020: five)
individuals for the year are as follows:

—E-—% —B-%x
2021 2020
FET FAET
HK$°000 HK$ 000

EAFHE - EREM HMEMK Basic salaries, housing allowances,
EYEA other allowances and benefits in kind 5,340 5,785
BHRE-FREHRETE Pensions - defined contribution plans 417 381
5,757 6,166
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8 EERAMEZ (BIEEEME) 8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING

#= DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(b) HfMERESZAL (Z (b) Five highest paid individuals (continued)
EsENT : The emoluments fell within the following bands:
T —F —EIEF
2021 2020
A# A#
No. of No. of
individuals individuals
s E Br) Emolument bands (in HK$)
=% 1,000,000 7T Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 2
1,000,001 7t £ 1,500,000 75 HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 3 3
5 ®
FRoBERRUMERS 2 AT During the year, no emoluments have been paid to the five highest
SIEABMASZEN L BER B E o paid individuals as an inducement to join or as compensation for

loss of office.
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9 EEM=

EENEWENT

BE_Z-_— S+ _-_BA=+—HLEE

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments is disclosed as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2021

EEmBHh
2ER BRI
ik i MR BNEH  (EHZHR st
Employer’s
contribution
toa
Allowance retirement
Discretionary  and benefits benefit
Fees Salary bonuses in kind scheme Total
FAET FET FET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BTESR Executive directors
HRRLE (ZE) Mr. Hong Sung-Tai (chairman) 420 - = = = 420
BEauL Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan = = = - - -
BREREE Mr. Han Chun-Wei = - - - - -
LRPRE Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann = - - - - -
EBTESE Non-executive directors
BRELE Mr. Kao Chao Yang = = - - - -
BUFHTES Independent non-executive directors
BERELE Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter 120 - - - - 120
SRBEE M. Li Robin Kt Ling 120 - - . . 120
BERLE Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben 120 - = = = 120
780 - - - - 780
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EEME @
EEMSWBMT :

ME-S-FE+_A=T—BLEE

9 D|RECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Directors’ emoluments is disclosed as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BIMEHK
2R BHEE
ik o KBt BUEN  FHZER Mzt
Employer’s
contribution
toa
Allowance retirement
Discretionary  and benefits benefit
Fees Salary bonuses in kind scheme Total

TE7T TE7T TE7T FEr FiEr FEm
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000

BiTES Executive directors

HLREE (2E) Mr. Hong Sung-Tai (chairman) 420 S = - - 420

REALL Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan = - - - - _

REREE Mr. Han Chun-Wei - - - - - _

S P Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann - - - - - _

FHnES Non-executive directors

BRERE Mr. Kao Chao Yang S = - - - _

BUFHTES Independent non-executive directors

RRIERE Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter 120 = S 5 - 120

B Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling 120 S = = = 120

BERLE Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben 120 S S = - 120
780 = = = = 780

BE_T_—F+"HA=+—HLEFE K&
EHEnEEIIMEERMAREERRIM
AFERRZEBIERBE (CE 225
M) ot BE B —ERITZIEF+C
A=+—HLEFE TEEEREXARERE
R = o

ERFTHTESEZME NI ENREFRMA
HEEARBRAEBRSEHEZRBEMEL - £
KR FERTESTZME DI EMREUELR
BRENBARESGMNIRMURBMEL - £
KR BYFATESZME D EEMREFN
FABEESMNIRMERFMED -

No emoluments was paid by the Group to the Directors as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as an compensation for loss of
office for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil). In addition, no
directors waived or agreed to any emoluments during the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020.

The Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group. The non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the Company
or its subsidiaries. The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the Company.
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1

10 FINANCE COSTS

—E-—% —E-TF

2021 2020

FET FAET

HK$’000 HK$'000

HEaEZFIE Interest on lease liabilities 63 46

g/

FERR T —F+-_RB=+—HZEZM
BABHINNT FRIESHFE BRIEERE
BRAEEEERAZEBRZRAERIFTE
BRERSTSRAEEFTAEZREE EM
BRI ST A H E B E E s o

SRR IR R A R
EANBERER
Place of

BEAE

incorporation and operation

11

SUBSIDIARIES

The Group’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2021 are set out
below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital consisting solely
of ordinary shares that are held directly by the Group, and the proportion
of ownership interests held equals the voting rights held by the Group.
The place of incorporation or registration is also their principal place of

business.

TEEH

FE@
BETRAHE HEZBAERER
Particulars of

issued share Ownership interest

Name of the entity and kind of legal entity Principal activities capital held by the Group
ZEZ-§ ZZTTEH
2021 2020
% %
GircuTech Investment EBEZHEE RERR 1ETT 100 100
Holdings (BVI) Limited (EBEREE)) Investment holding US$1
BRAR
British Virgin Islands (‘BVI"),
limited liability company
Signal Communications RBREYEE BRAH REER 15,000,000 75 100 100
Holdings Limited BVI, limited liability company ~ Investment holding HK$15,000,000
HEBRERERAA FH BRAT REZR - TERZHERDH HER 1B 100 100
CircuTech Investment Limited Hong Kong, limited liability HtR% & HK$1
company Investment holding, sales and
distribution together with repairs and
other service support of IT products
NEBEE (BH) BRAT BB BRAH TERZHERDHE BER 1,000 7T 100 100
CircuTech Enterprises (HK) Limited ~ Hong Kong, limited liability HiR% % & HK$1,000
company Sales and distribution together with
repairs and other service support of
IT products
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MEAE @ 11 SUBSIDIARIES (continuea)
E AR Al 3L R R B T FEE
BERAE EANERER TEEE BETRAHE HEZEEERER
Place of Particulars of

incorporation and operation

issued share

Ownership interest

Name of the entity and kind of legal entity Principal activities capital held by the Group
—EZ-F —Z°ZE
2021 2020
% %
CircuTech Holdings Alliances AR BRAE TERZHERDH 0.01B17T 100 100
(Netherlands) B.V. Netherlands, limited liability Sales and distribution of IT products EUR0.01
company
GircuTech Inc. 28 BRAE TERZHERDH 1,000% 7T 100 100
United States, limited liability ~ Sales and distribution of IT products US$1,000
company
CircuTech Australia Pty. Ltd. B BRAR TERZEERREESE 1R 100 100
Australia, limited liability Repairs and service support of IT AUD1
company products
AEERERS (R BRAT  HREARENE HELE TERZEERRBRE 5,000,000 70 100 100
Circutech Technology Services The People’s Republic of Repairs and service support of IT HK$5,000,000
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd China, wholly-owned foreign products
enterprise
TERRRAERAR BB BRRAHF REERRRZARARAER 1,000 7T 100 100
Signal Communications Limited Hong Kong, limited liability HERTIHER HK$1,000
company Research and development and sales
and marketing of video surveillance
systems
R—EBEAT 2= 12 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE
—EZ—F g2
2021 2020
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
w—A—H As at 1 January 7,378 6,741
e — MBS AT S Share of results of an associate 673 726
AIERE Impairment loss (164) (628)
SMNEME AR Exchange difference (350) 539
W+-B=+—H As at 31 December 7,537 7,378

TXHINEAERR 2 -_—F+-B=+—H
ZEEBE RN c TXAFERBZRAERLE
REIEEFE 2 Z @A o oF ft AL 3 3K = it
BRITAEFTEZE £ M BFfSAEZHE#E
% LB R 4G SERE LR BB

Set out below is the principal associate of the Group as at 31 December
2021. The entity listed below has share capital consisting solely of
ordinary shares, which are held indirectly by the Company. The country
of incorporation or registration is also its principal place of business, and
the proportion of ownership interest is the same as the proportion of
voting rights held.
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12 R—EBEQRZERE @ 12 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continueq)
s
BRaE 1R R 3L B R MREE SHEHE ARG
Place of
Name of business/country of  Nature of Measurement % of
the entity incorporation relationship method ownership interest
—®—F "ZT°ZF
2021 2020
4Square Return GmbH (EE| i =UNE| % 21% 21%
Germany Associate Equity method

ZHMEARNTE (LHEEERM BAKRE

THE)REEREA RHHEREHRE W
EREWRE - BEEBEHRS Bl BmR
ERBS REERERRBTFEMTHE IR

WEEEEEE

A ZE-NFARANB  AEBITIEER
% MBI A T UWEE4Square Return GmbH
(lasquare ) BEETRAZ21%#Exm > R
{1E&%41,600,000Br 7t (1B E 1 4914,508,000
BIL) ofFADKR AEBPRINEEIE EE
F()4Squarez21% & # > 4~ 46,569,000
TR —HRERERECSRE AFENS
7,939,000 L ZBERXR SN _E—N\FLtA
+AHAHERe

REARRSAEBRTEHRNRIRERER
EFTEGERETE 2 THEWE4SquareZz Fi B
BRNERD o TTEHAT  4Square R ERE E
TC=FT A=+ HIEFEZRERZES
MERREMOPEEEEBR BB ZEXH
20 (MREAEER) - MAEENREAAR
EHAE M AT M R 1T 5B BE HA#E > Bl4SquareE
MIRERER T EREREBEEER=EAURN
BERAEBEFRZE4SquareFRE KRG R EBA
1,600,000BR 7T c iR IEE AT R S AR LR »
RERE ELSERIEERBERIRATET
BzBE—EaTEEmI A

The associate is principally engaged in compliance consulting, the
provision of sales and marketing services, collecting and take back
services, asset remarketing services, recycling, commodities aggregation
and trading, certified waste electrical and electronic equipment
disassembly, and metals separation and concentration, in particular,
in the information technology, telecommunications and electronics
industries.

Summary of acquisition

On 4 June 2018, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
to acquire 21% of the issued share capital of 4Square Return GmbH
(“4Square”) from independent parties by cash consideration of
EUR1,600,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$14,508,000). In return,
the Group is entitled to (i) 21% of equity interest in 4Square at a cost
of HK$6,569,000 and (i) a call option and buy-back option at fair value
of approximately HK$7,939,000 at the date of the acquisition. The
transaction was completed on 19 July 2018.

The call option allows the Group to acquire all the remaining shares
of 4Square in the exercise period at an exercise price determined in
accordance with the terms set out in shareholders’ agreement. The
exercise period is from the date that the audited consolidated financial
statements of 4Square for year ending 31 December 2023 are filed in
Germany until the Business Day that falls six months thereafter (“Call
Option Period”). If the Group does not exercise the call option before
the expiry of Call Option Period, the other 4Square existing shareholders
may buy-back all of the shares in the 4Square held by the Group
within three months from the expiry of the Call Option Period for the
consideration of EUR1,600,000. The call option and buy-back option
were treated as a single component derivative financial instrument at fair
value through profit and loss under HKFRS 9.
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R—RBE AT ¥R @
W EEEE (4

BB R A A S B W B B BAFE (5 4Square
AR EEKREENATFEFZEMNE DT, HER
mEE W AR —BBREARD 2B

REE_Z_—F+"_A=+—HILEEHE
HH#9673,00058 7T (ZF ZF £ 1 726,000% 7T)
(ENAEEEIEHEATER) o

RIZEZ—F+—ANH XE@EFTL—7HE
Tt UEREARARNERE S "=
+ZE=+—8> mRERREERGZEBINR
4SquareMIF B -MIB-ITERBHEAIBFIZ5
ER-_FE—NF BB E -2 —F-C
T CFERERGREMBRERFIE4Squarez
AR AREEETE o BR LS BRI HBE Z PR B EAM
1R A o

NZE-_—F+"B=+—H"4Squarez oI
Cl&BEHAATNESREBEEREBESEH AL
SERBEETHERNARADETZEEM
EMEBET ZTEERUBE AT TEEE
MEREH CEIZSF . MEH WHBEEE
AERNBESRERN AFH(CTEE !
MEHR) U ENBESREFERILEE2-8% (ZF
ZEE 2% HE MBS EERLREMERET
EWMEXRBH BUEBHBE QNS KERA
EFNTHRAEEX -SHHETPRBANMRATR
IREAH12.30% (CEZZE 1 12.97%) °

RIB-_—F+"B=+—0 > RE LT
fir > 4SquareZ BREE (FOFRRERT S E AL
EEE AL SFAR—BBEARD 2R 2
BRI EE18164,0005 7T (ZZ ZF 4 1 628,000
B RiRm i o

12

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continuea)

Summary of acquisition (continued)

The excess of the cost of investment over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of 4Square at the date
of acquisition was recognised as goodwill and included the interest in an
associate.

A profit of approximately HK$673,000 representing the Group’s share of
results of the associate was recorded for the year ended 31 December
2021 (2020: HK$726,000).

On 8 November 2021, the Group entered into a supplemental agreement
to extend the Call Option Period to 31 December 2023 and the call
option price will be based on 5 times the earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation of the 4Square minus the aggregate
amount by which the net profit of the 4Square as set out in the 2019,
2020, 2021, 2022 audited consolidated financial statements. Save for the
above, all other terms of the shareholders’ agreement remain unchanged.

At 31 December 2021, the recoverable amount of 4Square was
determined by the directors of the Company based on value-in-use
calculations with reference to a professional valuation performed by
Flagship Appraisals and Consulting Limited. The calculation used cash
flow projection based on the financial budget approved by management
of the associate covering a five-year period (2020: two-year period).
The cash flows beyond the five-year period (2020: two-year period) are
extrapolated using a growth rate of 2-8% (2020: 2%), which is based
on the relevant industry growth rate and does not exceed the average
long-term growth rate for the business in which the associate operates.
The pre-tax discount rate adopted in the calculation is 12.30% (2020:
12.97%).

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of 4Square, before
impairment, is higher than its recoverable amount based on the above
assessment. Accordingly, an impairment loss on goodwill included
in interest in an associate of HK$164,000 (2020: HK$628,000) was
recognised in profit or loss.

HEEEEERAERAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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12 M—REBE AR 2R @ 12 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

BEATZHBERBE Summarised financial information for an associate
TREIBELAD ZHBEENBME -FIFE>
BN KMAERBE D ZGREHERRAEY
M MIFNESEEERERATEMLN

The tables below provide summarised financial information for the
associate. The information disclosed reflects the amounts presented
in the consolidated financial statements of the relevant associate and
FHSRE -ZEETHEETE UKMERER not CircuTech International Holdings Limited’s share of those amounts.
BRANIEZAE  OENgt R EREM They have been amended to reflect adjustments made by the entity
EZ1EST ° when using the equity method, including modifications for differences in

accounting policy.

—E-—% —s-%&
2021 2020
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$ 000
RERREEEBY Cash and cash equivalents 17,770 16,409
Httwe&EE Other current assets 31,460 29,522
WRHMEE Total current assets 49,230 45,931
ERBEE Non-current assets 31,437 35,907
Vi Ip=KE Current liabilities (37,081) (41,815)
JEREEIMR Non-current liabilities (13,693) (11,978)
EEFE Net assets 29,893 28,045
BEREE 2 HER - Reconciliation to carrying amounts:
RENZ2EEZRE Net assets at beginning of the year 28,045 22,701
KEEGZH Profit for the year 3,205 3,457
BMEERR Exchange difference (1,357) 1,887
RERZEEZFE Net assets at end of the year 29,893 28,045
KEBDGZHEDL Group’s share in % 21% 21%
KEBDGH—EBHEATEEFE Group’s share in net assets of an associate 6,278 5,889
GRS Goodwill 1,323 1,487
mEE%H Exchange difference (64) 2
IREE Carrying amount 7,537 7,378
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R—EBEARZEE @ 12 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continueq)
MEQADZHMBERBE (&) Summarised financial information for an associate (continued)
BHE_T_—F BE_Z_ZF
+ZBA=+—H +ZA=+—H
ILEE IEFE
For the year For the year
ended ended
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
ON Revenue 103,695 96,052
T EE Rt 5 Depreciation and amortisation (3,690) (3,682)
FMEMX Interest expense (832) (1,026)
MBI Tax expenses (1,574) (1,107)
REE RN REME IR E Profit and other comprehensive income
for the year 3,205 3,457

RIZZ-—F+ZRA=+—H HEFHEE
MR —HBEARRa I RAEE (CET
F:\) RIE-_—F+A=+—H F&
EIrmELE—ERERAR ZERRE (T2
TE | o

FRFIRFA

EBANERIHEBE_S_—F+_RA=+—
BIlEEEZ A EEREMNE16.5% (ZZF
THE16.5%) st EAEBR—BHBQ A
BRON > ZAB AT EFISRMAFINEERS
B8 o Z M1 B 2~ Bl FEsR M E F) 2 B2,000,00078 ¢
(ZZB 24 2,000,000 7T) #8.25% (=
TTTLE 1 8.25%) MR MR TIERRE N %
16.5% (ZZTZEF 1 16.5%) B o

B 2 RIBT BLASF B fh 5t FEERINE R IE A5
EEEMTEER e BRTMEatHEo

13

There is no contingent liability in relation to the Group’s interest in an
associate on 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil). As at 31 December 2021,
the Group has no share of capital commitments of an associate (2020:
Nil).

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: 16.5%),
except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity under
the two-tier profits tax rates regime. The first HK$2,000,000 (2020:
HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits of this subsidiary are taxed at
8.25% (2020: 8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at
16.5% (2020: 16.5%).

Taxation on profit has been calculated on the estimated assessable profit
for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries/places in
which the Group operates.

B 22 HF
2021 2020
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000

EHRIE Current tax
—KRFERE — Tax for the year 2,095 1,968
— B FEBEEE — Over provision in respect of prior year (321) =
1,774 1,968

MEBEBZERARALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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13 PSR @

7 £ [ 7R BLIRAR A0 i A A 2 A 1A SRR KR
DERGERENER 2 BERIRE165% (ZFZ
TF 116.5%) FEHMEBERESEZEZBMT !

13 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical
amount that would arise using the primary tax rate of 16.6% (2020:
16.5%) applicable to profit of the majority of the consolidated entities as

follows:

—EZ—% —E2IEHF

2021 2020

FET FAET

HK$°000 HK$'000

FRPTEMATEF Profit before income tax 4,006 10,965
BEBME16.5% Tax at the Hong Kong tax rate of 16.5%

TECTE I 16.5%) HETZRE (2020: 16.5%) 661 1,809

MTFERBEZREBERE . Tax effects of:

—BEMR Z WA - Income not subject to tax (87) (232)

—HENT 2 RS (NRRIE) - Associate’s result reported net of tax (111) (120)

—AERAL - Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 520 743

—BINRERZ EEE - Difference in overseas tax rates 664 485

— R RREE - Effect of special tax exemption (56) (165)

—RKERNEEEIRIERE - Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 526 394
—ERBFERERRIELEE - Utilisation of previously unrecognised

tax losses (22) (946)

— B FEBREEE - Over provision in respect of prior year (321) =

FRi8MBE Income tax expenses 1,774 1,968
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14 ERER
141 SRELXEF

REEBATDRARBER ARG
MEEUR M REEHTEINSERZ

14

EARNINGS PER SHARE

14.1 Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average

MmEFHHE - number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year:
—E-—% —E-Tx
2021 2020
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
AESRERBAFEZ Profit attributable to the ordinary equity
KNBEBERTE ABLET holders of the Company used in calculating
basic earnings per share 2,232 8,997
HEEREABENRESSZ Weighted average number of ordinary
TR NEEHE (FK) shares used as the denominator in
calculating basic loss per share (‘000) 23,434 23,434
KRB EBERTE ARG Basic earnings per share attributable to the
SREXRRF (BRE) ordinary equity holders of the Company
(HK cents per share) 9.52 38.39

14.2 SREBEEF]

MR AFEWESITEINEEHERD
HERBERINENERERRF (CTF

ZEE R e

14.2 Diluted earnings per share

(2020: same).

132 HEEEEERAERAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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156 ME - -BERRERFEHREEZE 15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

(a) ME -BEKRRME (a) Property, plant and equipment
HEME Rt R WAE
£ RE B e st
Leasehold Furniture Office
improvements  and fixtures equipment Machinery Total
FET FET FET FET FET
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
HE_Z-TE Year ended 31 December 2020
+ZA=+—HLEE
FYREZE Opening net book value 60 21 70 5,658 5,809
ERER Exchange differences - - 5 - 5
RE Additions - 14 208 - 222
WEER Wz7) Depreciation charge (Note 7) (38) (12) (67) (2,263) (2,380)
s Written off - - (13) - (13)
EREESE Closing net book value 22 23 203 3,395 3,643
RZEZEEF At 31 December 2020
+ZB=+-H
B Cost 113 186 1,235 11,315 12,849
REiE Accumulated depreciation 91) (163) (1,032) (7,920) (9,206)
REFE Net book value 22 23 203 3,395 3,643
BE-ZT--& Year ended 31 December 2021
+ZA=+—HLEE
FREFE Opening net book value 22 23 203 3,395 3,643
ERER Exchange differences = ) 4 = 3
RE Additions - - 48 - 48
WEER Wi7) Depreciation charge (Note 7) (22) (13) (83) (2,263) (2,381)
HE Disposals - - (45) - (45)
FREMEE Closing net book value - 9 127 1,132 1,268
RIEZ— At 31 December 2021
+ZB=+-H
B Cost 113 185 1,227 11,315 12,840
RitinE Accumulated depreciation (113) (176) (1,100) (10,183) (11,572)
REVEE Net book value - 9 127 1,132 1,268

AEEBR_E—F+ZB=+—8F
FAEREEEN1,132,0008 T (2
T4 13,395,000 7T) 2 AR CHREHRE
FRAMBAST  ARE—THEFBER

M EE33(c) °

The machinery held by the Group with total carrying amount of
approximately HK$1,132,000 (2020: HK$3,395,000) as at 31
December 2021 was temporarily leased to fellow subsidiaries,
further summary details of which are included in Note 33(c).
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15 ME - -BERLEREHEEZEZE 15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND

# RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continuea)
(b) FERAEEE (b) Right-of-use assets
TR IETF RE st
Land and Motor
buildings vehicles Total
FAET FET FET
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
RZZ2ZZ2F—HF—H At 1 January 2020 610 122 732
AE Additions 1,394 - 1,394
WEER (Wat7) Depreciation charges (Note 7) (949) (124) (1,073)
PE 52 =28 Exchange differences - 2 2
MRIEZEHF At 31 December 2020 and
+=ZB=+—HER 1 January 2021
—E-—%—HF—H 1,055 - 1,055
wE Additions - 542 542
WEER (A7) Depreciation charges (Note 7) (706) (176) (882)
PE A 5E Exchange differences 5 (30) (25)
RZZ2Z—F+"A=+—H At 31 December 2021 354 336 690
ME-BEAREREREEEZR Depreciation expense of HK$3,263,000 (2020: HK$3,453,000) for
BB 38,263,000 T (ZE_ZF : property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets has been
3,453,00078 t) Est ATfTEIBE S © charged in “administrative expenses”.
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16 &R T A (IEHN29) 16 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

KEBFBEUTEMIA The Group holds the following financial instruments:
—E-—% —E-T
2021 2020
FET FAET
HK$°000 HK$’'000
BE Assets
TEEMI A Derivative financial instrument 9,972 9,917
ERAMETEWR@DRATEIEZ Financial asset at fair value through
THEE other comprehensive income 1,451 1,457
BB A EZ TREE Financial assets at amortised cost:
PR AT R R TR L 1 FE WK Trade and other receivables
(FBEIEFENRIE) (excluding prepayment) 13,868 1,527
ZIRHIIRITER Restricted bank deposits 31,194 31,220
HERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 98,850 104,695
&g Liabilities
HEERATEzEMERE Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
AT BR T R EL I FE (T 7R Trade and other payables (excluding other tax
FEFEMENMRE BREHIERK payables, receipts in advance and accrued
FEsHEEEF) employee benefits) 69,618 44,090
HEA®RE Lease liabilities 723 1,097

AEEmBHREIFFEEERTARHNSIE
EBE e R EMREABRNZAEERBEM O
TR AEMEEZREE

The Group’s exposure to various risks associated with the financial
instruments is discussed in Note 3. The maximum exposure to credit risk
at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of
financial assets mentioned above.
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TTEERITA 17 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT
T —F —EIEF
2021 2020
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BN —REBEL SR Derivative financial instrument in relation to the
MESMI A (Bat12) interest in an associate (Note 12) 9,972 9,917
(i) X2FEHE=E (i)  Fair value measurement

BREEMETARFTEMBZEER For information about the methods and assumptions used in

BREz2ER FLHHE3.30 determining the fair value of derivative, please refer to Note 3.83.
(i) MEZAEIZEHE (ii) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

REAFEER TEEMTAZ AT EEE The change in the fair value of derivative financial instrument during

&P M 5E8.3(a)(iii) © the year is set out in Note 3.3(a)(iii).

TESMT AT UBITEHE The derivative financial instrument is denominated in EUR.
EREMEEWKERATES] 18 FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
BEZzEMEE OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
BREEMEERERATEIIEZEMHEE Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive

income
B TEZTTHF
2021 2020
FAET FET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
JEEHRRAE Unlisted equity security 1,451 1,457

ERRAEEZHM AR SRR AFEE
E5186,000/8 7T (ZE - F 4  §51854,000%8 70)
(Bt ££3.3(a)(iii)) ©

FEBZEBRRESNRBFTHRERNAR
NEEAINED HANRARTA L EEFAERE
HEEZHEEEEMERSHELERMBH
oM AR L EZ BT EAR-

HRFTEERBZEREARBEE  EmRR
BN HEMEESBEBEMEE W EIZ AT
BolfEe

During the year, a fair value loss of HK$6,000 (2020: loss of HK$54,000)
was recognised in other comprehensive income of the Group (Note 3.3(a)

(ii)).

The Group’s strategic investments is a 9% interest in iMT Co., Ltd. This
company is not accounted for on an equity method as the Group does
not have the power to participate in its operating and financial policies,
evidenced by the lack of any direct or indirect involvement at board level.

The equity investments were irrevocably designated at FVTOCI as the
Group considers these investments to be strategic in nature.
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19 FE YK ER 7 B H fth FE UK 7R 19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

—E-—% —E-TF

2021 2020

FET FAET

HK$’000 HK$’000

FE U BR 7R Trade receivables 13,403 824

& R H A E YR Deposits and other receivables 465 708

BB HEM A E2 EMEE Financial assets at amortised cost 13,868 1,527

A RIB Prepayments 3,593 1,120

FEUR AR A R EL i FE WL FR 48 KB Total trade and other receivables 17,461 2,647
KEBABOHEEDUREET FNRFSEE The majority of the Group’s sales are on cash basis. The remaining
HZ EEHEENFI5E0H R _E_—F amounts are with credit terms generally ranging from 15 to 90 days.
TEITE+ZR=+—H EWERREE At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the ageing analysis of the trade

EHHEZRESTUWT - receivables based on invoice date were as follows:

B —ETEHF

2021 2020

FAET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

1MEB A Within 1 month 13,121 455

2E3EA 2 to 3 months 280 316

3MEA UL Over 3 months 2 53

13,403 824
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20

138

PR LSt Bl R B EL th FE UK )

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continueq)

(a) BiRERIERR (a) Impaired trade receivables
58 A A B Y E B FE W R e B 1B Individual receivables which are known to be uncollectible are
0 R BR T E A8 o written off by reducing the carrying amount directly.
oy REBERBE B BREERF9 In addition, the Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
S A AT EEBEERE AR to measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected
WER R F A 2 ARTa AR 1B - BRAME IR loss allowance for all trade receivables. Information about the
ERTUBRE RS BRI E B EEE L provision for impairment of trade receivables, movement of
RAEERHZEERBRINEREZ provision for impairment of trade receivables and the Group’s
ECE N ERRE exposure to credit risk and foreign exchange risk is disclosed in
Note 3.1.
BEREREZWE S A B MiE 2RI Impairment losses and subsequent recoveries of amounts
REEWRERZMTTERERIRED previously written off are recognised in statement of comprehensive
income within “administrative expenses”.
FRIBatEER 2 £ 588 Amounts recognised in profit or loss
RAFE ERIBREREWRIEE During the year, no provision or reversal of provision for impairment
BENBEERED (CETETE ) o of trade receivables was recognised in the profit or loss (2020: Nil).
(b) EBWERFREMEKRRZATFE (b) Fair value of trade and other receivables
B REI R BRI E  HREER Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their
BIERERTFEMER - carrying amount is considered to be the same as their fair value.
‘<t
=78 20 INVENTORIES
T —F —EIEF
2021 2020
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
FIEEE 2 Em Goods held for resale 55,525 32,256

HE_E_—F+_-_B=+—BLEE"
EHFEMA322,343,0008 T (Z2 -2 F :
339,734,000 T) ~ F & #370,000/8 T (=
TTTE  FEEH1,478,0008 7T) KilisEE
52,0008 (ZTZF4F 1 133,00087T) B F
URERBILHA THERS) c R B —F+=
B=1+—H > E&##%3,091,0008x (=%
ZE4F 1 3,878,000 7T) ©

Cost of inventories sold of HK$322,343,000 (2020: HK$339,734,000),
inventory provision of HK$370,000 (2020: inventory provision of
HK$1,478,000) and write off of inventories amounted to HK$2,000 (2020:
HK$133,000) were recognised and included in “cost of sales” during the
year ended 31 December 2021. As at 31 December 2021, the provision
for inventories amounted to HK$3,091,000 (2020: HK$3,878,000).
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21 WERIREEEY

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

—s-—f —=-sf
2021 2020
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBERE Cash on hand 26 15
R1THRE Cash at bank 98,824 104,680
98,850 104,695
RIB-Z—F+"_A=+—H EHHBRITER As at 31 December 2021, the short-term bank deposits bear interest
BEFENFO%E02% (ZE_TF  F£FX ranging from 0% to 0.2% per annum (2020: from 0% to 0.2% per annum)

N F0%ZE0.2%)

AR AR =EAN &

with maturity date within three months, and were therefore included in

IARERIREEBY - cash and cash equivalents.
22 g7 SHARE CAPITAL
R &E & 4s
Number of shares Share capital
—E-—-F “ETEE —E-—-F —ECEF
2021 2020 2021 2020
Fiz FR FET FET
‘000 ‘000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BETRERE Issued and fully paid
R—B—HE+ZBE=+—H At 1 January and 31 December 23,434 23,434 4,687 4,687
(a) TER (a) Ordinary shares

(b)

ERRZEER0BIT - EBFHAEA
BB ERBEREAFROME RN
TRZLEH DGR ABBRZFASRIA

KRB ZEERAER » 780,000,000

7t B135400,000,0004% & & B ©

fERR1E

BRZE—NEEREFEIZENHEN
MizE25 0

(b)

Ordinary shares have a par value of HK$0.20. They entitle the
holder to participate in dividends, and to share in the proceeds
of winding up the Company in proportion to the number of and
amounts paid on the shares held.

The Company has a limited amount of authorised capital of
HK$80,000,000, comprising 400,000,000 ordinary shares.

Options

Information relating to the 2016 Option Scheme is set out in Note
25.
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23 Hith{&E 23 OTHER RESERVES
TRITFBERIERBE TEMtEE 2BAK The following table shows a breakdown of the statement of financial
ZERERAEE2EEB BHEEZMHERE position line item “other reserves” and the movements in these reserves
WA E R TR during the year. A description of the nature and purpose of each reserve

is provided below the table.

BRHEM
2EWE
RATEIE
ZEREE
RiriEE ERfHE R 1] @it
Financial
asset at
Share  Translation Special FvOCI
premium reserve reserve reserve Total
i3 FE FE FEm FEm FET
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000

RZZ2Z25—F—-H At 1 January 2020 183,006 (2,424) 14,990 49 195,621
rEERME AR Other comprehensive income for the year
BEBNEBELZERER Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations - 2,569 - - 2,569
FRAMZANRRATESEL Changes in the fair value of
EufBz TEEY equity investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income 18 - - - (54) (54)
S —-AHE L Deregistration of a subsidiary = (121) = = (121)
RoBE-EE+-B=+-0 At 31 December 2020 183,006 24 14,990 6 198,015
rEEHEM2AKR Other comprehensive income for the year
BEBNEBELZERER Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations - (1,471) - - (1,471)
FRAMZANRRATESEL Changes in the fair value of
BafBEz TEEY equity investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income 18 - - - (6) (6)
RIZZ-£+ZA=1+—H At 31 December 2021 183,006 (1,447) 14,990 (11) 196,538
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23 Hithf®E @

24

HthEmZHEERAR

WG
FERZHENRENDEREN - —FMNA
ETEREEREBAZNBARGH ZRAE

HEAXADETRAFAEBREZEEM
B2 ERE

IMEBRE

BmEBINZ "E*E&H?M’\TEEE’JE DERE
REME2mRamiE R G 2.6 ) Rt
NEBREBERS RZENLHEREZFER
BoEEE2EN @K

ZEBEMEE K EEL
&

N FESIEZEMEEF

AT ERBEERBEHARAFTAEZREEEY
BHREZEWFIORETCEBHEMEZERRZA
FEINEZEGREZ AFERSFEH-

Rstks1R

23 OTHER RESERVES (continued)

24

Nature and purpose of other reserves
Special reserve

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between
the aggregate of the nominal value of share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to a group reorganisation in April 2001 and
the nominal value of the share capital issued by the Company as
consideration for the acquisition.

Foreign currency translation reserve

Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign controlled
entity and associate are recognised in other comprehensive income
as described in Note 2.6 and accumulated in a separate reserve
within equity. The cumulative amount is reclassified to statement of
comprehensive income when the net investment is disposed of.

Financial asset at FVOCI reserve
The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair

value of equity investments designated at FVOCI under HKFRS 9 that are
held at the end of the reporting period.

ACCUMULATED LOSSES

RETBEZEHUWT - Movements in accumulated losses were as follows:
—E-—% —B-%x
2021 2020
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHE R Beginning balance (57,451) (66,448)
KEE @A Profit for the year 2,232 8,997
FRAAER Ending balance (55,219) (57,451)
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142

WU B E R TR

RIB-—RE+—-—A+—BHRMZHEREE
(TZE—AEREREE)

BER-_T—RE+—B+—HBEBZRZE
FoRRBRM T RNERRESE R
BEREHCERZEAENARAFFHER > I
MARBIREREEHSTIHE - 3 L7 B % & {th
3 URBREIMEE St BAMIABTHE-F
ABEFEUANEBEREAEE (BEAERZ
HITRIFRTES BHABR-ZERE
NHEE RE-RXOB - HEB XA -BED
HRRBHER) BHBRE URBARABDR

7o

BEZE-ANFEREFSDIERL ZERE
P R 2 RIDHBE > NFBE AR R IR AR
BEEHITRMNZ10% REXATREELM
B RERN—FARETAALTRERAIERSY
ZHEREMSRZEBETRRTETZRMH
B T"RBAXAADNEARKEEHTRMNZ
1% - HAETERIABILFATEEFREZ
BREBBARATDREZOA%HEEBERESR
5,000,000 70 BELINEAABDREAE-

FERERTUAE BTN WA RN B AT
STtHRNEM - BRETNEFEUEETEZ
HBABERITE HERABASBEARRY
AL +E-RBENHREFTEE BB
BRTIESE ()VERBROXELBE W
ARNFH) REEREXRFARETE ()X RQ
ARMVEEERIAMALEXZAESARK
BRAKZ FHERHE ; SilA 28 KkDZE
B

BEREM T RNEERESZ QML SER
R AR o

25 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

Share Option Scheme adopted on 11 November 2016 (the “2016
Option Scheme”)

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 11 November 2016, the 2016 Option
Scheme was adopted to recognise and motivate the contribution of the
eligible participants and to provide incentives and help the Company in
retaining its existing employees and recruiting additional employees for
a term of ten years. The Board of the Company may at its discretion
grant options to any employees, including Executive and Non-executive
Directors, consultants, advisers, substantial shareholders, distributors,
agents, contractors, suppliers, customers, business partners and service
providers of the Group to subscribe for shares in the Company.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the 2016 Option Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any point in time. The number of
shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options granted
and may be granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted
to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in
time, without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. Options
granted to substantial shareholders or independent non-executive
directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with a
value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be approved in advance by the
Company’s shareholders.

Option may be granted at a consideration of HK$1 and should be
accepted within seven days from the date of grant. Options may be
exercised at any time during the period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant. The subscription
price is determined by the Board and shall not be less than the highest
of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Daily
Quotation Sheet on the date of grant, which must be a trading day; (i)
the average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
Daily Quotation Sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of grant; or (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

No share options were granted since the date of adoption of the 2016
Option Scheme.
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26 P& AR R B H fth F& {F =K 26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
—E-—%& —ErEg
2021 2020
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
& BR =X Trade payables 67,554 42,229
Bz E Deposit received 600 600
HMEMRE Other tax payables 2,200 393
FHiRE AR EMENR Accruals and other payables 2,649 2,920
73,003 46,142
HREBREPEMHE BURAKREMENLR The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are considered to
ZEREBERRAREAFTERB -R+IZA be the same as their fair values, due to their short-term nature. At 31
—+—H > ENERREEZAPZRE ST December, the ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice
e date were as follows:
e % g 5
2021 2020
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
KEVERR Within 1 month 67,412 41,805
2E3M@EA 2 to 3 months 142 424
67,554 42,229
27 HE 27 LEASES
AEESHZEE URBAZEHN) Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as lessee)
AEBRREKESmAER ARERES THRHE The Group leases a number of properties and vehicles with fixed periodic
NETECHHEESNMERRE- SEHREES rent over the lease terms in the jurisdictions from which it operates.
ERBRZEEMR Leases of vehicles comprise only fixed payments over the lease terms.
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27 HHE w 27 LEASES (continued)
HEITSZHE UERBAZEM) & Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as lessee) (continued)
HEEHN El7E {3 7%
Lease Fixed
contracts payments
2H FET
—E-—+”-HA=+—H 31 December 2021 Number HK$’000
BENRzMERE Property leases with fixed payments 2 378
BEEE Vehicle leases 1 345
HEEHN ERENEAN
Lease Fixed
contracts payments
Ed=] FET
—_E-EF+_B=+—H 31 December 2020 Number HK$'000
EENRZMERE Property leases with fixed payments 3 1,097
FERAEEE Right-of-use assets
HEMEERE D2 ERAREERBED T The analysis of the carrying amount of right-of-use assets by class of
(IS underlying asset is as follows:
—EZ—F BT
+ZA=+—H8 +ZA=+—H
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
ERAEYE  RITEREAIIE Properties leased for own use,
carried at depreciated cost 354 1,055
HE RITER AT E Motor vehicles, carried at depreciated cost 336 =
690 1,055
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27 A& w 27 LEASES (continuea)
HeEaE Lease liabilities
TR IEF HE # st
Land and Motor
buildings vehicles Total
FET FET FET
—EZ—H+ZA=+—~H 31 December 2021 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
wE Additions - 542 542
FMERZ Interest expenses 40 23 63
GEN-SNEN Lease payments 762 190 952
PE 2 E) Foreign exchange movements 3 (30) (27)
THIRIETF RE st
Land and Motor
buildings vehicles Total
FET FET FAET
_E2CEF+-_HA=+—H 31 December 2020 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
wE Additions 1,394 = 1,394
FMERZ Interest expenses 42 4 46
GEN=—ENEN Lease payments 980 134 1,114
PE 2 8 Foreign exchange movements 2 2 4
ARBEMNZOINBBEROT : Future lease payments are due as follows:
RIEEEMAR FE RE
Minimum
lease Present
payments Interest value
—E-—5F —E-—5F —E_—5F

+=B=+—-HB +=A=+—-H +=BA=+-H

31 December 31 December 31 December

2021 2021 2021

FET FAET FET

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

—FR Not later than one year 564 19 545
—FREFBBME Later than one year and not

later than two years 183 5 178

747 24 723
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27 HHE w 27 LEASES (continued)
HEaR @& Lease liabilities (continued)
REEEMR B RME
Minimum
lease Present
payments Interest value
—EIEHF —ETEHF —ETEHF
+—A=+—H +ZB=+—H +ZA=+—H
31 December 31 December 31 December
2020 2020 2020
FET FET FET
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
—FNR Not later than one year 760 39 721
—FREBRABBME Later than one year and
not later than two years 382 6 376
1,142 45 1,097
B 2R
2021 2020
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
MEIBE Current liabilities 545 721
EREBBEE Non-current liabilities 178 376
723 1,097
R % BT
2021 2020
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
THAERSY Short term lease expenses 386 287
RALIRFTHATA ERIE 4R EE Aggregate undiscounted commitments
for short term leases 114 86
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28 IRIEFRISIR 28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX
FERMBEERELERBEEE GRet B The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities, without
BE A E 2 ERIRHE) 2omumT taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax

jurisdiction, is as follows:

T —% —EEHF
2021 2020
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
FIERIBE E Deferred tax assets - 181
RIERIBEE Deferred tax liabilities - (181)
FRERRIBE E R E Deferred tax assets, net = -
28.1 IEERIBEE 28.1 Deferred tax assets
EREENUTRERG O ESE The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:
e % =25
2021 2020
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
MIBE1E Tax losses - 181
#E Movements
RIER518
Tax losses
FET
HK$'000
RZE2E—hE+B=+—H At 31 December 2019 406
FFAET@ Credit to profit or loss (225)
N_E2E_Z2F+"HA=+—H At 31 December 2020 181
T A @ Credit to profit or loss (181)
BWZEZ—%5+=-H=+—H At 31 December 2021 =

Annual Report 2021 g 147



FEMBRRIE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 IRIEFRIEIR @

28.2 IEERIBEE

HEHREEUTRERGCYRIEEE

28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continueq)

28.2 Deferred tax liabilities

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

—E-—% —E-Tx
2021 2020
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
RN IEITEE Accelerated tax depreciation - 181
Z2g) Movements
IRMIEITE
Accelerated
tax
depreciation
FAET
HK$'000
R_E—hE+-HB=+—H At 31 December 2019 406
s AE@ Credit to profit or loss (225)
RI2ZIZ2EHF+"H=+—H At 31 December 2020 181
T AB I Credit to profit or loss (181)
RWZ_E_—f+”"H=+—H At 31 December 2021 -
28.3 MIAKSIE 28.3 Tax losses
R % BT
2021 2020
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
REERIRIERIBEE Y Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax
FERMIERE asset has been recognised 45,393 42,604
BAEBBEREEMEIEANZ Potential tax benefit at domestic tax rate for
MEAEZBERBEMN = which the Group's entities operate 7,409 7,053
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28 RIEFRIEMR @ 28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
28.3 TRIARSIE (&2 28.3 Tax losses (continued)
FEBARIEEHBILRAER TR RER The unused tax losses were incurred by the Group companies that
BELEFRVBNAZEAERRAEE -H are not likely to generate taxable income in the foreseeable future.
ERRRESBEBZERNRMMERME See Note 28.1 for information about recognised tax losses and
H2ZEAHE B M 5E28.1 &M 5E4(d) o 1 Note 4(d) for significant judgements made in relation to income tax.
B HF+A=+—8B XxBAKRE As at 31 December 2021, the unused tax losses are as follows:
BB -
—EZ—fF —E2IEHF
2021 2020
FET FAET
HK$°000 HK$'000
KU EMEIER . Expiry date in:
ZERE 2026 136 188
—EtF 2027 746 730
—E)N\FE 2028 1,270 1,242
=y 2029 1,557 1,524
TE=ZF 2030 788 771
—E=—4F 2031 2,332 -
MmEIHAA No expiry date 38,564 38,204
45,393 42,604
29 IR 29 DIVIDENDS
EEEABANBE_E_—F+=-/A=+— The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year
BEFEEZRE (CEZEF 8\ ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).
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30 REREEN

30 CASH FLOW INFORMATION

RS (FRA) EEZ2RE Cash (used in)/generated from operations
B —F T2 HF
2021 2020
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
PRPTEMATEF Profit before income tax 4,006 10,965
MTHNIEEEHEE Adjustments for:
ME- -BERREITE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2,381 2,380
FTREESERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 882 1,073
FTEERE Net provision for inventories 370 1,478
HEE Write off of inventories 2 133
R I0%:iN Finance costs 63 46
MEEMIAZ 2FERR Fair value gain on derivative
financial instruments (494) (1,045)
R—EBER B 2R 2 RERE Impairment loss on interest in an associate 164 628
IRITERA B WA Interest income from bank deposits (39) (378)
HiE—ENB AR ZEE Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary - 473
Gk ERN Y Written off of property, plant and equipment - 13
HEME BERREZ W E Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment (10) -
RS EARZ EG Share of net profit of an associate accounted
— B A B AR for using the equity method (673) (726)
PE RSB35 Exchange losses, net - 890
EEETHEBA 2 RE LT Operating profit before working capital change 6,652 15,930
REEBEERABBEZEE Change in operating assets and liabilities
FEIEM Increase in inventories (23,446) (3,018)
JE Uit BR R R EL B Wk (38 00) R (Increase)/decrease in trade and
other receivables (15,045) 88
& 1 BR R e EL A FE {3 R4S 0 Increase in trade and other payables 26,850 29,795
aHa/EEMm S Ohl) Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities 1,397 2)
mExR iR/ EEZRe Cash (used in)/generated from operations (3,592) 42,793

RizEReRERN  HEYE BERREBZ In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from sale of

FriSHIBEIE : property, plant and equipment comprise:
T —F —EIZH
2021 2020
FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
RERE (B2E15) Net book amount (Note 15) 45 13
HEYE BERREBEZWE (Ba27)  Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment (Note 7) 10 S
W2 BB e s (BYaE7) Written off of property,
plant and equipment (Note 7) - (13)
HEYZ= BERKXEBEZFISHRIE Proceeds from sale of property,
plant and equipment 55 =
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31 WERSRMEE

31 NOTES SUPPORTING CASH FLOW

STATEMENT
fHEaE
Lease
liabilities
Hizt27
Note 27
FAET
HK$’'000
R-E_EF—H—H At 1 January 2020 767
WEmEgs Changes from cash flow:
BEREaEZAEHD Repayment of principal portion of the lease liabilities (1,068)
EEREaGZHNEID Repayment of interest portion of the lease liabilities (46)
MERSREEHELE Total changes from financing cash flows: (1,114)
PE S Exchange adjustments: 4
Hfh &g Other changes:
wE Additions 1,394
HAEF] Lease interests 46
Hih g5 Total other changes 1,440
E?:g_ng—F_E =t+—8% At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021
_Z2”_—%—B—H 1,097
WEmEEs ! Changes from cash flow:
BEREaEZAEHD Repayment of principal portion of the lease liabilities (889)
BEEEaBEZMNERD Repayment of interest portion of the lease liabilities (63)
MERSREEHELE Total changes from financing cash flows: (952)
PE S Exchange adjustments: (27)
Hfh &) Other changes:
hE Additions 542
AEF] Lease interests 63
Hth & B4 %E Total other changes 605
N B —F+ZA=+— At 31 December 2021 723
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33

152

ZRFERITER 32 RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS
T —F —EIEF
2021 2020
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
ZIREIIRITER Restricted bank deposits 31,194 31,220

RZEZ—F+ZA=+—H #MEFX
@ RTRES,000,000E T (BER
#4762,388,000/E 7t) IR ZRITER ALY
4,000,000 7t (FBE 1 4931,194,000%8 7t)
(ZE -4 :4,000,000F 7T (HERLY
31,220,000 7)) - AEEREEZE T —F
+ A=+ —HILEMBREERRIETRENUR
ﬂs%@ﬁ@#ﬁéﬁéﬁﬁﬁ)ﬂﬁ o Z R AR
,,a“’@%ﬁﬁémﬁﬂﬁTAzso 975,000 7t (=
— =4 130,940,000 7T)  FEMEKBE0.2%
<777>§¢ BHF02%) HRITZZEHE=A8
TEIZF T —F=A) 5

REEZZ-_—F+ZHA=+—HLEFE &
EECETHRTREZMERZY (TEZT
£ AR o

As at 31 December 2021, a bank deposit of approximately
US$4,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$31,194,000) (2020:
US$4,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$31,220,000)) was
pledged for bank facility amounting to US$8,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$62,388,000) granted to the Group. Such bank
facility was drawn by the Group to issue a standby letter of credit to
the key supplier of the Group in the financial year ended 31 December
2021. Included in restricted bank balance is HK$30,975,000 (2020:
HK$30,940,000) placed as fixed deposit at an interest rate of 0.2% per
annum (2020: 0.2% per annum) with maturity in March 2022 (2020:
March 2021).

The Group has complied with the financial covenants of its banking
facilities during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: same).

FEALTRS 33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) BRXFE (a) Parent entities
REBRUTERER The Group is controlled by the following entities:
EERBEEET
BHE EAEEZ KRABTSLE
REATE 515 kKir & B (8 %9)
Percentage of
the issued share
Number of capital of
Name of shares held/ the Company
Shareholders Capacity interested (approximate)
Foxconn (Far East) Limited BEZERAR 11,853,524 50.58%
Immediate holding company
Hon Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd. REZER AT 11,853,524 50.58%

Ultimate holding company

K13 . Foxconn (Far East) Limited% B8 152 T
ERBERRATAZEZEWBAT -

Note: Foxconn (Far East) Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hon Hai
Precision Industry Co. Ltd.
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33 FABAITXRG @

(b)

(c)

(d)

FEEEABZHHE

EEEEGQEESR W7 JFRITAE
IIEHIT) o EFREERBENE
NEBERBZHEIITOT

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continueq)

(b)

Key management personnel compensation

Key management includes directors (executive, non-executive and
independent non-executive). The compensation paid or payable
to key management for directors and employee services is shown
below:

—E-—% —B-%&
2021 2020
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
e RkAMEHAEERN Salaries and other short-term
employee benefits 780 780
BEEATETZRS (c) Transactions with related parties

BRBATETZRZWT

A

The following transactions occurred with related parties:

B —EIEHF

2021 2020

FAET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

BEEEEFEL ZHE Sales to Hon Hai Group 107 21
MM AEARRWE AR Operating lease charges paid to fellow

TR EHEER subsidiaries in respect of an office 158 292

MEEREWABBRRKE AR Operating lease charges received

WK SR EE A from fellow subsidiaries in respect of

machineries rental income 2,400 2,400

FRZ BB ZE S ER ZBRET-

RITRE

RZEZ—F+-A=+—H &&£H
R —2HEEREHNEREASEN
$R17B2E8,000,000E T (ZBE-FF .
8,000,000%7T) AR REK B A
FREMNATER(CEZ24E  ER) 1E
iR o

(d)

The above transactions were conducted at negotiated prices
between transacting parties.

Banking facility
As at 31 December 2021, the bank facility of the Group in relation
to a standby letter of credit to a vendor of US$8,000,000 (2020:

US$8,000,000) were supported by corporate guarantees given by
the Company and its subsidiaries (2020: same).
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34 KATIZHBRARKREEE 34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
S| RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

ERBRZHBRAR Statement of financial position of the Company
R+ZBA=+—H
As at 31 December
—EZ—F T
2021 2020
FAET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BE Assets
EREEE Non-current assets
RHBABZRE Investment in subsidiaries 10 10
JE S B [~ Bl RRIE Amounts due from subsidiaries 112,770 116,026
___________________ 112,780 116,036
TEEE Current assets
AN RIERZE Prepayments and deposits 392 382
HERREEEBY Cash and cash equivalents 152 136
______________________ 544 518
WmEE Total assets 113,324 116,554
i Equity
ERBEE AELER Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
B A Share capital 4,687 4,687
1R =B Share premium 183,006 183,006
RETE5HE Accumulated losses (74,589) (71,743)
B Total equity 113,104 115,950
=i Liabilities
Gk =N} Current liabilities
FHEER Accruals 220 604
wEmREE Total equity and liabilities 113,324 116,554
KRB ZHMBRRARBEETIN _SE__F= The statement of financial position of the Company was approved by the
BZ+—HZELTHTNIEEAREFTEEE Board of Directors on 21 March 2022 and was signed on its behalf
HIAREE BEREE
Mr. Hong Sung-Tai Mr. Han Chun-Wei
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34 AT ZHBFRARR(#EE 34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

E e RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(continued)
ERBZEHEES Reserve movement of the Company
D& E Retisia st
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
FHET FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
RWZE-ZHF—-HF—H At 1 January 2020 183,006 (68,571) 114,435
KEEEE Loss for the year = (3,172) (3,172)
RIE2ZIZEF+"H=+—H At 31 December 2020 183,006 (71,743) 111,263
RN_E2_—F—H—H At 1 January 2021 183,006 (71,743) 111,263
KEEEE Loss for the year = (2,846) (2,846)
BWZZEZ—%+Z-HB=+—8 At 31 December 2021 183,006 (74,589) 108,417
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e 1 RESULTS

BE+-_A=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December
ZEZ—+tF ZE-)N\F ZIZT-NF ZZIEF ZTZT—HF
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
FAET FAET FHET FAET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000

WA Revenue 98,966 299,109 332,884 372,959 349,870
PR ATEA (B518) Profit/(Loss) before income tax (12,892) (18,772) 3,379 10,965 4,006
T8 Income tax expense (322) (834) (890) (1,968) (1,774)
AEE@A, () Profit/(Loss) for the year (13,214) (14,606) 2,489 8,997 2,232
BTAATEEEEE Profit/(Loss) for the year

wH L (B5i8) - attributable to:

—XRBEEA - Owners of the Company (13,210) (14,601) 2,489 8,997 2,232

—JEER - Non-controlling interests (4) (5) - - -

(13,214) (14,606) 2,489 8,997 2,232
BERARE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
W+ZBA=+—H

As at 31 December
—E2—tF ZZ-N\F ZZ—NF ZZZHF ZTZ—F
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
FAET FAET FAET FAET FET
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$’000

wEE Total assets 218,188 147,912 150,685 194,268 = 223,948
4 E Total liabilities (70,047) (16,310) (17,320) (49,017) (77,942)

148,141 131,602 133,365 145,251 146,006

H T AT ZEARR R © Capital and reserves
attributable to:
—KXREEEA - Owners of the Company 148,645 132,093 133,860 145,251 146,006
—JEERER - Non-controlling interests (504) (491) (495) = -

148,141 131,602 133,365 145,251 146,006
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